September 2021





# EXPLORING THE CONFLICT BLIND SPOTS IN CLIMATE ADAPTATION FINANCE

Synthesis report

Yue Cao, Tilly Alcayna, Adriana Quevedo and Jim Jarvie

#### **Acknowledgements**

The authors are grateful to the peer reviewers who provided comments to improve earlier drafts of this paper, including Elizabeth Carabine (Regional Senior Expert Climate Change, Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Netherlands), Katharine Vincent (Gender and Social Inclusion Team Lead, SPARC), Mark Taylor (Consortium Executive Director, SPARC), Neil Bird (Senior Research Fellow Climate and Sustainability, ODI), Pilar Domingo (Senior Research Fellow Politics and Governance, ODI), Steve Wiggins (Principal Research Fellow Climate and Sustainability, ODI), and Thomas Wheeler (Conflict Adviser, FCDO).

We are also grateful to the key informants interviewed in this study for their time and knowledge, as well as Sherine El Taraboulsi-McCarthy (Senior Research Fellow Politics and Governance, ODI), Katie Peters (Senior Research Fellow Global Risk and Resilience, ODI), Leigh Mayhew (Research Officer Global Risk and Resilience, ODI), Beza Tesfaye (Director of Research and Learning Migration and Climate Change, Mercy Corps) and Eliot Levine (Director Environment and Technical Support Unit, Mercy Corps) for their expert insights.

The team worked under the guidance of Mauricio Vazquez (Research Lead, SPARC), with project management and communications help provided by Catherine Stockwell (Project Manager, Global Risk and Resilience, ODI) and Josie Emanuel (Senior Communications Officer, Global Risk and Resilience, ODI).

# CONTENTS

Key Findings	4
Abbreviations	7
Glossary	8
1. Introduction	11
1.1. Defining the conflict blind spots in climate adaptation finance	12
1.2. Conflict sensitivity in climate adaptation finance	13
1.3. Analytical approach	15
1.4. Structure of the synthesis report	18
2. The Sahel and Horn of Africa	19
2.1. Climate, fragility and conflict context	20
2.2. Climate finance trends	20
2.3. Donor approaches to conflict sensitivity	24
3. Summaries of country case studies	27
3.1. Mali	28
3.2. Somalia	32
3.3. Sudan	35
4. Lessons learnt	39
4.1. Limited information on conflict analyses informing adaptation	40
4.2. Risk analyses tend to neglect the two-way interaction between interventions and the conflict context	41
4.3. Investment often avoids armed conflict areas, leaving behind vulnerable people	42
4.4. Adaptation programmes miss opportunities to support conflict prevention	43
4.5. Conflict worsens the problems of accessing climate finance	44
5. Conclusion and discussions	47
5.1. How can the design and delivery of climate adaptation programmes be improved so that they help reduce risk related to both climate and conflict?	48
5.2. How can climate adaptation finance be increased to fragile and conflict-affected situations?	49
References	51

3

## **KEY FINDINGS**

In many fragile and conflict-affected situations, climate change and conflict tend to interact with each other, compounding risks and challenges for sustainable development. While not directly causing conflict, climate impacts can exacerbate issues that drive conflict, such as degradation of natural capital and livelihood assets, infrastructure damage, food insecurity and migration. Conflict, in turn, can amplify the impacts of climate change by increasing communities' and institutions' exposure and vulnerability to climate-related hazards and lowering their capacity to adapt.

Despite this relationship, there is limited evidence to date that climate adaptation programmes are being implemented in a conflict-sensitive manner. In addition, multilateral climate funds and some bilateral donors tend not to allocate funds in fragile and conflict-affected situations, seemingly due to perceived higher risks and challenges. This results in what amounts to 'blind spots' that both increase the risk of ill-designed adaptation programmes precipitating grievances and conflict situations, causing unintended harm, and prevent adaptation finance from reaching those arguably most in need of support.

This synthesis report explores: (1) whether and how climate adaptation programmes have been conflict-sensitive in fragile and conflict-affected situations; and (2) barriers and enablers to increasing adaptation finance to these contexts. It is based on an analysis of donors' approaches to conflict sensitivity in the Sahel and Horn of Africa – a region with a large concentration of highly climate-vulnerable and conflict-affected countries – and synthesis of findings from the application of such approaches to climate adaptation investments in Mali, Somalia and Sudan.

The study finds that there remains a lack of donor strategies and policies linking climate change to conflict and fragility, as well as a lack of expertise and incentives to cultivate human resources to support work at this nexus. Learnings from the Global Environment Facility and the World Bank clearly illustrate the negative impacts of a lack of conflict-sensitivity guidance for climate and environmental projects in fragile and conflict-affected situations, and the need for strategies that put conflict and fragility front and centre in these contexts to be impactful and sustained (GEF IEO, 2020; World Bank, 2020b).

The analysis of adaptation programmes in Mali, Somalia and Sudan produced weak evidence of conflict-sensitive practices. Programme proposals did not provide consistent evidence that conflict analyses informed project design and implementation over the programme duration. When projects carried out conflict analyses, the quality of these assessments, especially in considering the climate and conflict nexus, needed improvement – as local power dynamics were often missed.

Conflict risk analyses also tended to focus more on the operational hazards – what an escalation in conflict might cause to an adaptation intervention – and less on the potential impacts of the intervention on conflict dynamics. In other words, most projects focused on being 'security aware'. Addressing security challenges involved relocating project activities where possible or avoiding certain areas in the country, and contingency plans for outbreaks of conflict in conjunction with local conflict resolution mechanisms, including continuously updating site security, regular training of staff and beneficiaries, and accounting for cultural norms and internal dynamics in investment areas.

Projects that acknowledged the potential impacts to the conflict context tended to highlight the positive impacts (e.g. a reduction in tension, better shared resource use) in project documentation. However, there was rarely upfront, explicit analysis of the potential negative, unintended impacts adaptation programmes could cause.

On the barriers and enablers to increasing adaptation finance to fragile and conflict settings, between 2010 and 2018, global public adaptation finance was only 6% of cumulative international official development assistance (\$1.3 trillion) (OECD, 2020a). Over the same period, only 8% (\$5.9 billion) of global adaptation finance (\$77.8 billion) was committed to countries in the Sahel and Horn of Africa (CFU, 2021; OECD, 2021b). On a per capita basis, more than half of the countries in the region received less adaptation funding than the average for Least Developed Countries (\$2–13 vs \$18), despite sharing similar levels of socioeconomic development but ranking at the top of climate vulnerability indexes. This trend shows that the more fragile a country is, the less adaptation finance it received, supporting the idea that donors tend to favour safer places.

Within countries, donors have tended to approach conflict sensitivity by avoiding militiacontrolled areas and those where insecurity and conflict levels were deemed too high. While climate finance is not intended to address directly the complex dynamics of insecurity or political conflict involving jihadist and terrorist armed groups, avoiding such areas has resulted in highly vulnerable populations living in areas under militia influence not being reached by adaptation projects. This tendency is influenced by donors' risk perception and risk management processes, with some seemingly more comfortable operating in less secure areas or continuing engagement when the security context worsens.

The challenges in accessing adaptation finance identified in this study, while not unique to fragile and conflict settings, are exacerbated by instability associated with conflict conditions. These include weak governmental capacities to meet fiduciary standards. In the three country case studies, state institutions lacked the public financial management systems to mitigate financial fiduciary risks, including on fraud and corruption. As a result, climate finance was almost entirely channelled through multilateral organisations or (international) partners on the ground.

Another key challenge is donor requirements to access climate finance, which are complex and rigid for the national institutions studied and do not seem to account for rapidly changing conflict contexts. This is especially the case for the Green Climate Fund (GCF). Despite different measures to address access problems – including a readiness programme, a dedicated-window pilot to enhance direct access for national organisations and a 'simplified approval process' pilot – considerable obstacles persist.

Other challenges include high staff turnover, loss of skilled personnel and loss of institutional memory, which contribute to the low institutional capacity, and the absence of minimum socioeconomic and climate data required for programme proposals due to conflict limitations. For example, there are missing meteorological monitoring stations, and armed groups have prevented access to areas for participatory assessments.

A key study limitation has been the lack of access to complete adaptation project documentation, monitoring and evaluation data, and post-programme impact assessments in the three countries analysed. Moreover, most historical funding has been humanitarianfocused, with varying levels of climate sensitivity, and the separation between funding for climate adaptation and for development is often unclear. Basic development needs are seldom met in these contexts, and therefore it was challenging to identify 'pure' adaptation activities and their impacts. This has hindered analysis of the impact of adaptation finance on conflict. Thus, a large unknown remains in whether adaptation-financed activity is exacerbating, reducing or not impacting conflict and inequality.

Based on these findings, the study offers high-level considerations on the study's two research questions. These are reflections addressed mainly to climate donors and warrant further discussion and generation of evidence.

## How can the design and delivery of climate adaptation programmes be improved so that they help reduce risk related to both climate and conflict?

- Articulate the climate adaptation and conflict nexus across donor, government and implementing agency strategies, action plans, policies and guidance materials for investments. There is great scope for this.
- Improve guidance and capacities for conflict sensitivity analysis and support project portfolio reviews with a conflict lens to generate learnings to improve practice.
- Ensure local leaders and all key local stakeholders are actively participating in investment design and implementation via inclusive approaches that recognise the heterogeneity of communities.
- Create more flexible operational protocols during implementation of adaptation investments.

## How can climate adaptation finance be increased to fragile and conflict-affected situations?

- Improve coordination among donors on where to operate based on their different risk
  preferences (perception, appetite and tolerance). A starting point could be a systematic
  mapping of adaptation programmes within a country, identifying areas where multiple
  actors are operating, and should be working synergistically, and areas where there is limited
  investment and presence, needing greater attention.
- Revise donor modalities to provide capacity-building support for climate change adaptation.
- Consider increasing support to improve public financial management systems.
- Actively explore how access requirements of multilateral climate funds, such as the GCF, could be adapted to fragile and conflict-affected situations.

6

## ABBREVIATIONS

AFD	Agence Française de Développement
AfDB	African Development Bank
DAE	direct access entity
FCDO	Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office (UK)
FCS	fragile and conflict-affected situation
FGS	Federal Government of Somalia
GCF	Green Climate Fund
GEF	Global Environment Facility
IAE	international access entity
LDC	Least Developed Country
LCDF	Least Developed Countries Fund
MFA	Ministry of Foreign Affairs (of the Netherlands)
NAP	national adaptation plan
NAPA	national adaptation programme of action
NDC	nationally determined contribution
NDP	national development plan
NGO	non-governmental organisation
ODA	official development assistance
PFM	public financial management
SAP	simplified approval process
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
WB	World Bank

# GLOSSARY

#### **Climate and environment**

#### Accreditation

An assessment of whether institutional entities are capable of strong financial management and of safeguarding funded projects and programmes for multilateral climate funds such as the Green Climate Fund.

#### Adaptation finance

Finance with the aim of improving preparation and reducing climate-related risk and damage, for both human and natural systems, as short-term climate impacts will continue to exact economic, social and environmental costs even if appropriate mitigation actions are taken.

#### **Climate adaptation programmes**

- Programmes with the principal objective to reduce vulnerability of human and natural systems to current and expected climate impacts, reduce exposure to them, and/or increase resilience. In other words, adaptation is the fundamental driver or motivation behind the programme, which would not have been funded (or designed that way) otherwise.
- 2. Development projects with other principal objectives, such as poverty reduction, where climate change is mainstreamed into activities. These are often called climate-related development programmes.

#### **Climate change**

A change in the state of the climate that persists for an extended period: typically, for decades or longer. It refers to any change in climate over time, whether owing to natural variability or as a result of human activity.

#### **Climate change adaptation**

The process of adjustment in natural or human systems in response to actual or expected climate change and its effects, which seeks to moderate or avoid harm or exploit beneficial opportunities.

#### **Climate finance**

Climate finance aims to reduce emissions and enhance sinks of greenhouse gases, and reduce vulnerability and maintain or increase resilience of human and ecological systems to negative climate change impacts. It can be local, national or transnational financing – drawn from public, private or alternative sources of financing – that seeks to support these objectives.

#### **Climate risks**

The adverse consequences that climate variability and change – or adaptation or mitigation responses to such a change – might have for lives, livelihoods, health and well-being, ecosystems and species, economic, social and cultural assets, services and infrastructure. Risk results from the interaction of vulnerability, exposure and hazard.

#### **Climate shocks**

8

The realisation of climate risks, which fundamentally affects: peoples' lives, livelihoods, health

and well-being; ecosystems and species; economic, social and cultural assets; services; and infrastructure.

#### **Climate variability**

Fluctuations in climatic conditions on all scales beyond individual weather events. The term is often used to denote deviations of climatic statistics over a given period of time. Variability may be due to natural internal processes within the climate system, or to variations in natural or anthropogenic external factors.

#### Context

Refers to the operating environment, which ranges from the micro to the macro level – e.g., community, district/province, region(s), country or neighbouring countries.

#### **Environmental degradation**

A process through which the natural environment is compromised in some way, reducing biological diversity and the general health of the environment. This process can be entirely natural in origin, or it can be accelerated or caused by human activities.

#### Resilience

The ability of individuals, communities, institutions and systems to anticipate, absorb, adapt, respond to and/or recover from shocks and stressors caused by conflict, violence and hazards of various kinds without compromising their long-term prospects.

#### Sustainability

The reconciliation of environmental, social and economic demands. Sustainable development is development that meets the needs of the present generation without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their needs.

#### Vulnerability

A condition brought about by physical, social, economic, environmental and political factors or processes that increase the susceptibility of a community or individuals to a specific shock or hazard. The term describes a person or group's inability to anticipate, cope with, resist and/or recover from the impact of natural or human-made shocks or hazards without compromising their long-term prospects.

#### Conflict

#### **Communal conflict**

Violent conflict between non-state groups organised by group identities (e.g. ethnic, religious).

#### Conflict

Conflict occurs when two or more parties find their interests incompatible and express hostile attitudes or take actions that damage the other party's ability to pursue their interests.

#### **Conflict analysis**

A structured process of analysis to better understand a conflict, by looking at its background/ history, the groups involved, each group's perspective and the causes of conflict, for example.

#### **Conflict prevention**

Interventions that seek to reduce tensions and/or prevent the outbreak or reoccurrence of violence.

9

#### **Conflict resolution**

The informal or formal process that two or more parties use to find a peaceful solution to their dispute.

#### **Conflict sensitivity**

An umbrella term for approaches used to manage negative or positive impacts of a given intervention in a conflict-affected context. Conflict sensitivity avoids negative impacts of interventions on peace and conflict and also implies taking steps to actively maximise potential positive impacts on peace.

#### Do no harm

An approach that recognises the presence of 'dividers' and 'connectors' in conflict. It seeks to analyse how an intervention may be implemented to support local communities to address the underlying causes of conflict, rather than exacerbating conflict.

#### Fragility

Fragility is the combination of exposure to risk and insufficient coping capacity of the state, systems and/or communities to manage, absorb or mitigate those risks. Fragility can lead to negative outcomes including violence, poverty, inequality, displacement and environmental and political degradation.

#### **Political conflict**

Violent conflict between non-state actors and the state in order to achieve political goals.

#### Security awareness

The knowledge and attitude of organisation members towards the conflict context in which they operate. This usually implies taking measures to protect physical assets and personnel from risks of violence.

#### Stabilisation

An approach, used in situations of violent conflict, to protect and promote legitimate political authority, through a combination of integrated civilian and military actions to reduce violence, re-establish security and prepare for longer-term recovery by building an enabling environment for structural stability.

#### **Violent conflict**

Resorting to psychological or physical force to resolve a disagreement.

# **1. INTRODUCTION**



This synthesis report explores whether and how climate adaptation programmes have been conflict-sensitive in fragile and conflict-affected situations (FCSs). It looks also at the barriers and enablers to increasing adaptation finance to these contexts. The report refers to these two issues as the 'conflict blind spots' in climate adaptation finance.

In this study, climate adaptation programmes are defined broadly to include: (1) projects whose principal objective is to reduce vulnerability of human and natural systems to current and expected climate impacts by increasing resilience, and/or reducing exposure to them; and (2) development projects with other principal objectives, such as poverty reduction, where climate change concerns are mainstreamed into activities (these programmes are often also called climate-relevant development programmes).<sup>1</sup> Therefore, many of the issues identified throughout the report do not apply solely to adaptation finance but to official development assistance (ODA) more generally.

The report is based on an analysis of approaches to conflict sensitivity of donors operating in the Sahel and Horn of Africa – a region with a large concentration of highly climate-vulnerable and conflict-affected countries (Moran et al., 2018) – and synthesis of findings from the application of such approaches to climate adaptation investments in Mali, Somalia and Sudan. It is informed by, and should be read in conjunction with its sister report 'Exploring the conflict blind spots in climate adaptation finance in the Sahel and Horn of Africa', which documents in full the donor analysis and the three country case studies.

#### 1.1. Defining the conflict blind spots in climate adaptation finance

In many fragile and conflict-affected situations, climate change and conflict tend to interact, creating negative feedback loops that compound risks and challenges for the sustainable development of these countries. The academic literature and international policy-making circles have widely accepted that climate change acts as a conflict risk multiplier and conflict accelerator (Adger et al., 2014; Rüttinger et al., 2015; UNSC, 2020). While not directly causing conflict, climate impacts can exacerbate issues that drive conflict, such as natural capital and livelihood asset degradation, infrastructure damage, food insecurity and migration. Conflict, in turn, can amplify the impacts of climate change by increasing communities' and institutions' exposure and vulnerability to climate-related hazards, and lowering their capacity to adapt (Crawford et al., 2015).

Despite this intimate relationship, there is limited evidence to date that climate adaptation programmes are being implemented in a conflict-sensitive manner (Peters, et al., 2020). In addition, multilateral climate funds and some bilateral donors tend not to spend in FCSs, seemingly due to their perceived higher risks and challenges (Hardaway, 2021). Between 2010 and 2018, only 8% (\$5.9 billion) of global adaptation finance (\$77.8 billion) was committed to countries in the Sahel and Horn of Africa (CFU, 2021; OECD, 2021). Global public adaptation finance in turn was only 6% of cumulative international ODA (\$1.3 trillion) over the same period (OECD, 2020a). This results in what amount to 'blind spots' that, on the one hand, increase the risk for ill-designed adaptation programmes to precipitate grievances and conflict, causing unintended harm, and, on the other hand, prevent adaptation finance from reaching those arguably most in need of support (Alcayna, 2020).

<sup>1</sup> These correspond to the OECD DAC Rio Markers for Climate classification of 'Principal' and 'Significant' projects contributing to climate objectives (OECD, n.d.).

Already, the development and humanitarian agendas have recognised the centrality of conflict prevention in achieving the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development during a time when violence is increasing around the world (UN and WB, 2018). The influential report, *Pathways for peace: inclusive approaches to preventing violent conflict* published jointly by the UN and the World Bank has also demonstrated that conflict prevention works and is cost-effective (UN and WB, 2018). Informed by this experience, there is increasing agreement that climate adaptation programming in FCSs should be conflict sensitive (Smith and Vivekananda, 2009; Cordaid and IIRR, 2011; Peters and Vivekananda, 2014; Nagarajan et al., 2018; Nordqvist and Krampe, 2018; Twining-Ward et al., 2018). While not the focus of this report, the inverse is also being recognised – that peacebuilding and conflict prevention initiatives should integrate climate risks and resilience, to be effective and avoid unintended consequences (UN DPPA, 2021).

A recent study in FCSs also provides anecdotal evidence that development projects that can flexibly adapt to their contexts, which is a quality of conflict sensitivity, achieve better results – in terms of local buy-in, longevity, momentum and sustainability outcomes (Christie and Green, 2019). Conflict sensitivity, thus, can be an approach for climate donors to increase their ability to engage, and stay engaged, in FCSs despite the additional challenges brought by the quickly evolving conflict situations. In the long term, this may lead to increased volumes of adaptation finance reaching these contexts.

This synthesis report addresses the blind spots by seeking to answer two questions:

- 1. How can the design and delivery of climate adaptation programmes be improved so that they help reduce risk related to both climate and conflict?
- 2. How can climate adaptation finance be increased to fragile and conflict-affected situations?

#### 1.2. Conflict sensitivity in climate adaptation finance

The concept of conflict sensitivity can be traced back to the late 1990s and early 2000s, when acknowledgement started to grow in humanitarian and development circles that development agencies' programmes and policies in FCSs could exacerbate conflict (APF et al., 2004). Mary Anderson adapted the 'do no harm' approach from the medical field to humanitarian action in the 1990s, as a way to work effectively in conflict-affected situations (Anderson, 1999). This was then extended into the development sector and evolved into the concept of 'conflict sensitivity' (APF et al., 2004). Do no harm and conflict sensitivity can be understood as minimalist and maximalist approaches along a spectrum (Tänzler et al., 2018). At one end of the spectrum, do no harm focuses on avoiding negative impacts of interventions on peace and conflict; at the other end, conflict sensitivity actively maximises positive social change to build peace (START Network, 2018).

Over the last ten years there has been increasing interest in integrating conflict-sensitive approaches into climate change contexts, especially in relation to natural resource management (UNDP, 2012; Bronkhorst, 2014), through in particular the development of guidelines for conflict-sensitive design and implementation of adaptation projects (GEA, 2018). This has been driven by both the limited but growing body of evidence that adaptation policies and programmes can exacerbate conflict if 'conflict-blind', reflecting many of the same problems affecting all development programmes (see Box 1), and the opportunities offered by the nexus of climate adaptation and peacebuilding. For instance, IUCN has highlighted

### BOX 1: PATHWAYS FOR CLIMATE ADAPTATION PROGRAMMES TO EXACERBATE CONFLICT

A limited but growing body of anecdotal evidence and case study examples from around the world is emerging on how climate change adaptation policies and programmes have exacerbated conflict, reflecting many of the same mechanisms that have long affected development initiatives. Here are a few examples:

- Climate adaptation strategies focusing on natural resource management leading to increased insecurity of land tenure, marginalisation of minority groups, increased environmental degradation and loss of biodiversity. For instance, Levine et al. (2014) found that Uganda and Ethiopia's climate adaptation policies had 'significant consequences for people's ability (or right) to continue current rangeland management strategies, with further implications for land rights, cultural identity and relations between citizens and the state' (p. 10).
- Climate adaptation funding and policies being exploited or biased by elite groups and those in power. Zhang (2015), for instance, found that climate change adaptation strategies favoured the politically dominant members of society, increasing inequalities in some urban areas in the Asia-Pacific. Similarly, Rüttinger et al. (2015) recognised that Uganda and Ethiopia's climate change policies were likely to increase marginalisation because they were politically driven by those in power.
- Interventions that oversimplify the conflict context, triggering new conflicts or increasing the intensity of existing ones. In Myanmar, UNDP (2017) concluded that international donors initiated investments and development projects in conflict-affected areas too quickly based on an interpretation of the country's democratic transition and peace process that was too positive. These efforts, including climate change projects and large-scale land deals, were not mindful of the fragility of the peace process and marginalised local stakeholders and communities, triggering new or increased conflicts over natural resources and land (Woods, 2015; UNDP, 2017).
- Interventions that do not consider the history of conflicts appropriately, re-igniting and intensifying conflicts. In Aceh, Indonesia, a forest-management initiative failed to understand historical political conflict dynamics, creating disagreements over decision-making, legal rights and control of finances, which led to the withdrawal of the initiative and exacerbated tension between different government actors. This then led to a relationship breakdown between these actors and became a focal issue during subsequent elections (Levine et al., 2014).
- Adaptation measures that have transboundary implications increasing potential for conflict over shared resources. For instance, adaptation measures of an up-river community could result in water scarcity in the down-river community, increasing chances for conflict over the shared resource (UNESCAP, 2018). Conflict may also arise in efforts to rehabilitate rangeland to adapt to climate change if there is no clarity on who is able to use and benefit from the land, and buy-in from communities and adherence to local laws, customs and social arrangements (Sieghart et al., 2018).

how conflict-sensitive approaches can be used to increase the 'peace-building potential of a variety of well-designed (adaptation) policies and projects, making climate change adaptation a "peace-multiplier" (Bronkhorst, 2014: 1).

In parallel with this, there is also increased attention to the linkages between climate, gender, social inclusion and conflict dynamics (Yoshida et al., 2021). Women and girls tend to disproportionately face the impacts of both climate change – through their gendered roles providing water, fuel and food for the household – and conflict – especially environmental conflict and insecurity – while being excluded from participating in decisions to adapt to climate impacts or in peace processes (Yoshida et al., 2021). However, to date, the Women, Peace and Security agenda<sup>2</sup> has largely overlooked the impacts of climate change and environmental degradation on women and girls, and consequently the opportunities for environmental peacebuilding. Similarly, the climate security agenda has hardly incorporated any gender considerations (Yoshida et al., 2021). This is illustrated by the fact that guidance for carrying out gender-sensitive conflict analysis is not well developed (Strachan and Haider, 2015). As the recent UN report, *Gender, climate & security* put it: 'There is therefore an urgent need for better analysis and concrete, immediate actions to address the linkages between climate change and conflict from a gender perspective' (Halle and Kellog, 2020: 11).

Despite these trends, there is still limited research questioning: whether climate adaptation finance has indeed been conflict-sensitive, in part due to limited climate finance targeting FCSs; how these conflict-sensitive programmes have performed and their differential impacts on women, girls and other groups; and what may be lessons learnt for future climate adaptation efforts in FCSs. Such a lack of evidence is not unique to adaptation programmes, however, as the evidence for ODA seems also limited. A 2015 USAID review of development donors and implementing agencies' policies and practice with conflict sensitivity found that 'there is a very limited number of useful and reasonably recent case studies that document how different agencies have applied conflict-sensitivity in practice' (Goldwyn, 2016: 13).

To our knowledge, the only review that assesses the application of conflict sensitivity in environmental and climate adaptation programmes has been the *Evaluation of GEF support in fragile and conflict-affected situations*. This evaluation shows that a lack of official policy guidance led to limited, ad hoc application of conflict-sensitive strategies and operational measures across the GEF project portfolio, resulting on average in lower project quality, outcomes and sustainability, more delays and increased cancellations (GEF IEO, 2020). Moreover, the lack of policy guidance has meant that monitoring and evaluation systems of GEF projects did not capture information on unintended consequences of interventions, thus leaving unanswered the question about GEF projects' impact on conflicts.

#### 1.3. Analytical approach

This report uses conflict sensitivity as a framework to analyse the findings from the research into donors and the country case studies. Conflict sensitivity is generally comprised of three essential components (Saferworld, 2008):

<sup>2</sup> Enshrined in the UN Security Council resolution (S/RES/1325) reaffirming the important role of women in the prevention and resolution of conflicts, peace negotiations, peacebuilding, peacekeeping, humanitarian response and in post-conflict reconstruction, and stresses the importance of their equal participation and full involvement in all efforts for the maintenance and promotion of peace and security.

- 1. comprehensive understanding of the operational context
- 2. holistic understanding of the two-way interaction between interventions and the conflict context (i.e. the intervention's influence on conflict, and how the conflict contexts affect the intervention)
- 3. commitment both to avoid reinforcing conflict dynamics and to maximise opportunities for positive impacts.

It is informed by a structured and participatory conflict analysis that focuses on the actors, causes, dynamics, triggers and scenarios of conflict (Herbert, 2017), which helps define the parameters of an intervention (i.e. what, who, for whom, where, when and how) and foresees potential obstacles to effective implementation (CSC, 2012). This is done by asking guiding questions over the course of an intervention (see Box 2).

While the purpose of a conflict-sensitive analysis is to reduce negative impacts on conflict, the analysis may reveal that there is no 'right' solution for the intervention to be accepted by all interest groups, as it may contribute to redistribution of power or resources or may affect the interests of those most powerful. This raises questions of how to address trade-offs and dilemmas. In such situations, the process through which interventions are made conflict sensitive and delivered is key. Hence, conflict-sensitive interventions should be guided by principles of responsibility, participation, transparency, inclusiveness, respect, accountability, timeliness and partnership (CSC, 2012) in how they deal with:

- selection of communities
- procurement and provisioning of resources
- establishment of feedback and accountability mechanisms
- building relationships with targeted communities, governments, donors and development partners
- the intervention's exit strategy.

This process should be applied consistently at the different levels of the intervention and used to inform all stages of the programme cycle (i.e. assessment, design, implementation, monitoring, evaluation and learning) (CSC, 2012; START Network, 2018).

#### Methods

A mixed-method approach was used for data collection, consisting of: (1) a brief literature review of the climate-conflict nexus and established conflict-sensitive programming approaches; (2) descriptive analyses of climate adaptation finance flows at regional and country levels; and (3) in-depth qualitative assessment of conflict sensitivity in climate adaptation programme design documentation and via interviews with 41 key informants.

The selection of the Sahel and Horn of Africa for the regional analysis was motivated by the large concentration of highly climate-vulnerable and conflict-affected countries in the region. The countries considered are Burkina Faso, Chad, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Mali, Mauritania, Niger, Nigeria, Senegal, Somalia, South Sudan and Sudan. The selection of Mali, Somalia and Sudan for the country case studies was based on climate adaptation finance volumes (targeting

#### BOX 2: EXAMPLES OF BASIC CONFLICT SENSITIVITY QUESTIONS

#### What types of conflict exist in the area where I am planning my project?

- Has a conflict analysis been conducted (at both the local and national level)? Does it include an assessment of underlying conflict factors and power dynamics as well as a stakeholder analysis?
- Does it distinguish which conflict issues are highly local and which link to higher-level dynamics? How has the design of the project been informed by this analysis?

#### How might the conflict(s) affect my project's success?

- Have you considered whether and how project activities could make conflict worse, or spark conflict within or between communities? If so, how will risks be managed and monitored?
- Have you considered how your project would respond if there were to be an eruption of, or increase in, conflict within or close to the project sites? Are all staff and partners trained in how to respond in the case of an increase in conflict?

#### How might my project influence or interact with the conflict context?

- How have the project beneficiaries and partners been selected? Has this been informed by the conflict analysis (e.g., accounting for any divisions along ethnic, political or social lines)? Were clear criteria for participant selection developed with the local communities (including both direct beneficiaries and surrounding communities)?
- Are communities involved in decision-making and planning around the programme design, implementation and monitoring? What feedback and accountability mechanisms have been built into the programme implementation plans?
- Does your monitoring and evaluation framework reflect the ways in which the project interacts with conflict dynamics? Does it capture the effects that the project will have on conflict, and impacts that the conflict dynamics could have on the intervention?
- How to address trade-offs between different interest groups and the programme's intentions?

#### Can my project do something to help minimise conflict or promote peacebuilding?

Sources: USAID, 2015; START Network, 2018.

adaptation as their 'principal' objective) committed to the country, to maximise the chances of capturing existing experience and learnings, and different categorisations of conflict and fragility to achieve a representative range of contexts. Findings have been triangulated across all data sources. For more details, the sister report 'Exploring the conflict blind spots in climate adaptation finance in the Sahel and Horn of Africa' contains a full explanation of the methodology.

#### **Study limitations**

The programme documentation review was not exhaustive as there was limited consistent publicly available access to documents. Programme proposals and concept notes were consistently available and analysed across all case study countries, whereas project monitoring and evaluation reporting, logical frameworks, theories of change and impact assessments were largely unavailable publicly and could not be obtained within the timeframe of this study. There is a reluctance among donors especially to disclose conflict analyses, as these are usually politically sensitive (Herbert, 2017).

While a substantial number of key informants were contacted to participate in interviews, several stakeholder groups could not be reached. Perspectives from government and local non-governmental organisations (NGOs) in Mali and Somalia were sought but were not obtained due to limited availability of staff with other pressing concerns. Perspectives from government were gathered for Sudan. As the biggest multilateral climate fund under the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change, the Green Climate Fund (GCF) is also notably missing from the donor analysis due to unavailability of GCF staff within the timeframe of this research. Thus, findings on barriers and enablers of adaptation finance in these contexts do not necessarily represent the perspectives of the government or local NGOs.

#### 1.4. Structure of the synthesis report

The rest of this report is organised as follows:

- Section 2 introduces the regional context of the Sahel and Horn of Africa region, looking at key indicators of climate vulnerability, fragility and conflict. It analyses adaptation finance flows and trends to the region between 2010 and 2018, and examines a set of donor approaches to conflict sensitivity for climate change adaptation programmes.
- Section 3 summarises the country case study findings on whether adaptation programmes have been conflict-sensitive, and the barriers and enablers to implement them in Mali, Somalia and Sudan. The full analysis of the three country case studies is available in the sister report of 'Exploring the conflict blind spots in climate adaptation finance in the Sahel and Horn of Africa'.
- Section 4 presents common themes, lessons learnt and knowledge gaps from across the donor analysis and country case studies.
- Section 5 discusses these key findings in light of the two research questions and provides high-level recommendations and conclusions.

# 2. THE SAHEL AND HORN OF AFRICA

This section analyses the intersection of climate vulnerability, fragility, and conflict challenges across the 12 countries in the Sahel and Horn of Africa region: Burkina Faso, Chad, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Mali, Mauritania, Niger, Nigeria, Senegal, Somalia, South Sudan and Sudan. It provides a brief appraisal of historical adaptation finance flows targeting these countries and the approaches to conflict sensitivity of five major donors implementing adaptation programmes in the region: the UK Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office (FCDO), the Global Environment Facility (GEF), the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Netherlands (Dutch MFA), the Agence Française de Développement (AFD) and the World Bank (WB).

#### 2.1. Climate, fragility and conflict context

The 12 countries analysed in this section are among the most climate-vulnerable and fragile states in the world. Data from the Notre Dame Global Adaptation Initiative (ND-GAIN, 2021), which assesses countries' vulnerability and readiness to adapt to climate change, shows that Burkina Faso, Chad, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Mali, Niger, Somalia and Sudan are among the top 25 countries globally most vulnerable and least ready to deal with climate impacts. All countries in the region, except for Senegal, also score at the top of the global list of fragile states published every year by the Fund for Peace State Fragility Index, which measures fragility through 12 indicators across cohesion, economic, political, social and crosscutting dimensions. Moreover, Chad, Somalia, South Sudan and Sudan figure in the group of 13 'extremely fragile' countries in the OECD's State of Fragility report 2020 (OECD, 2020b) (see Table 1).

Most countries in this region have experienced or are actively experiencing some form of conflict, with many having reported high numbers of casualties as a result. Based on the absolute number of conflict deaths and relative to the population, the 2021 update of the World Bank List of Fragile and Conflict-affected Situations categorises Somalia as a 'high intensity conflict' country, reflecting widespread and intense violence, and Burkina Faso, Chad, Mali, Niger, Nigeria and South Sudan as 'medium intensity conflict' countries, reflecting rapid deterioration of the countries' security situations.<sup>3</sup> Our analysis of the ACLED database, which tracks events of political violence around the world,<sup>4</sup> suggests that conflict episodes in most of these countries have also been deadlier compared to a hypothetical global mean, calculated as the average number of deaths per event tracked over 2018–2020 (see Table 1).

#### 2.2. Climate finance trends

Between 2010 and 2018 a total of \$11.3 billion of public climate finance from bilateral and multilateral donors was committed to the region, with an almost even split for adaptation and mitigation programmes (CFU, 2021; OECD, 2021). Looking at adaptation finance, the countries in the region can be placed in three groups by the volume of funding committed to them:

- 1. The first group is comprised of Ethiopia, Senegal and Nigeria, with the former obtaining the most finance to date, at almost \$1.5 billion over 2010–2018, mainly through World Bank concessional lending and grants from bilateral donors including the US, Norway and the UK.
- 2. Niger, Mali and Burkina Faso are part of the second group, where each country has seen total funding of between \$500 million and \$600 million, receiving the biggest

<sup>3</sup> For a detailed definition and methodology, see World Bank (n.d.).

<sup>4</sup> Events are organised into six categories: battles, explosion/remote violence, violence against civilians, riots, protests and strategic developments. We have excluded protests and strategic developments from the calculations. For more information on the ACLED database methodology, see: ACLED (2019).

### TABLE 1: SNAPSHOT OF CLIMATE VULNERABILITY, FRAGILITY AND CONFLICT IN THE SAHEL AND HORN OF AFRICA

Country	ND GAIN Country Index (2018)	The Fund for Peace Fragile States Index (2020)	OECD State of Fragility (2020)	World Bank List of Fragile and Conflict- affected Situations (2021)	ACLED conflict fatalities per conflict event
Burkina Faso	23	37	Fragile	Medium intensity conflict	3.1
Chad	1	7	Extremely Fragile	Medium intensity conflict	4.8
Eritrea	4	18	Fragile	High institutional and social fragility	0.2
Ethiopia	25	21	Fragile	-	5.1
Mali	15	16	Fragile	Medium intensity conflict	2.8
Mauritania	32	33	Fragile	_	0.2
Niger	18	19	Fragile	Medium intensity conflict	2.8
Nigeria	21	14	Fragile	Medium intensity conflict	3.5
Senegal	70	71	Non-Fragile	_	0.3
Somalia	3	2	Extremely Fragile	High intensity conflict	1.7
South Sudan	n/a	3	Extremely Fragile	Medium intensity conflict	2.8
Sudan	7	8	Extremely Fragile	High institutional and social fragility	1.8
Global average	_	-	-	_	1.3

Sources: ACLED, n.d.; World Bank, n.d.; OECD, 2020b; ND-GAIN, 2021; Fund for Peace, 2021.

commitments from the World Bank, France and Germany and with a higher share of grants compared to the first group.

 The third group, where countries obtained the least funding (\$200 million and less each), includes Chad, Somalia, Mauritania, South Sudan, Sudan and Eritrea. Funding to these countries is almost entirely provided as grants from bilateral donors and the Least Developed Countries Fund (LDCF) (see Figure 1).<sup>5</sup>

<sup>5</sup> These estimates are aggregates of national programmes, targeting adaptation as their principal objective, and do not account for regional or multi-country investments, as it is harder for donors to estimate flows per individual country. This is a common problem among donors and may lead to underestimates for certain donors, such as the Netherlands.



#### FIGURE 1: ADAPTATION FINANCE FLOWS TO THE SAHEL AND HORN OF AFRICA



International adaptation finance 2010–2018 (thousands US Dollars)

There are two notable trends evident from this data. First, the more fragile a country is, the less adaptation finance it received, suggesting that complex operating environments, often characterised by weak governance institutions, higher risks and fast-evolving conflicts, have resulted in smaller-scale adaptation programmes, posing significant challenges to increased access, programming and delivery of climate finance. This is similar to trends in ODA flows. Among these countries, Senegal stands out as the only 'non-fragile' country to have received a comparatively large amount of funding, highlighting a preference among climate donors to allocate money towards relatively 'safe' places albeit less vulnerable to climate change. Second, the Green Climate Fund (GCF), which is the biggest multilateral climate fund dedicated to supporting climate adaptation efforts under the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change, has provided limited adaptation finance to FCSs despite its allocation framework committing an equal 50% of funding to adaption, of which 50% is to be spent in

Sources: CFU, 2021; OECD, 2021.

Least Developed Countries (LDCs). At the end of 2020, its portfolio of 159 approved and active projects and programmes was skewed towards climate mitigation (66%) versus adaptation (34%), though, when calculating the grant-equivalence contribution, funding was equally split between mitigation and adaptation (Schalatek and Watson, 2020).

A mixed picture emerges when considering the finance flows by the amount of population targeted on average (see Figure 2). On one hand, more than half of the countries in the region have seen fewer funding commitments per capita (between \$2 and \$13) than the average for LDCs (\$18), despite sharing similar levels of socioeconomic development but ranking at the top of the ND-GAIN Country Index. On the other hand, the commitments per capita for Burkina Faso, Mali, Niger, Mauritania and Senegal have been higher, with Mauritania and Senegal reaching twice (\$38) and three times (\$56) the average of the LDCs and more than four and six times the global average (\$9). This continues supporting the idea of adaptation finance flowing to relatively safer places.

It is positive to note that funding for countries in the second group has been higher than for their peers among the LDCs, indicating an attempt of international adaptation finance to target the most climate-vulnerable contexts, yet funding trends to countries in the first group should elicit concerns. Per capita finance to Eritrea (\$4), Nigeria (\$5) South Sudan (\$5) and Sudan (\$2) is markedly lower than the average for countries in higher income groups, who arguably require less support in comparison: low-middle-income countries (\$10), upper-middle-income countries (\$6), high-income developing countries (\$7), and the global mean (\$9). This is especially relevant for Chad, Somalia, South Sudan and Sudan, classified as 'extremely fragile' countries and/or experiencing violent conflicts in addition to being highly vulnerable to climate impacts.

While there are mixed positive and concerning trends in the Sahel and Horn of Africa region regarding the targeting of adaptation finance, the overall flows fall short of what is needed. Globally, mobilised climate finance from high-income, high-emitting countries to low-income, low-emitting countries has been less than the pledged \$100 billion per year by 2020 in the



#### FIGURE 2: CUMULATIVE ADAPTATION FINANCE PER CAPITA (2010-2018)

Source: authors' elaboration with data from CFU, 2021; OECD, 2021; UNDESA, 2021.

Paris Agreement, with the OECD estimating \$62.2 billion and Oxfam estimating \$19 to \$22.5 billion in 2018 (Roberts et al., 2021). Only around 20% of this amount has targeted adaptation actions, while the rest went to projects mitigating greenhouse gases (Roberts et al., 2021).

#### 2.3. Donor approaches to conflict sensitivity

The five donors analysed in this section have adopted diverse approaches to conflict sensitivity. Table 2 analyses these approaches against a set of common criteria, based on a review of donor strategy and guidance documents and triangulated with key stakeholder interviews and project documentation. The analysis is not an assessment of the effectiveness of these approaches due to a lack of publicly available documentation, including project monitoring and evaluation reports, theories of change, logical frameworks and impact assessments, which would be necessary to establish outcomes and impacts throughout the delivery chain. For a detailed description of each approach, please refer to 'Exploring the conflict blind spots in climate adaptation finance in the Sahel and Horn of Africa', the sister report.

	FCDO	GEF	WB	AFD	Dutch MFA
Donor type	Bilateral	Climate fund	MDB	Bilateral development bank	Bilateral
Approach type	Implicit with some central guidance	Relying on implementers	Systematic 'front and centre' strategy	Dedicated fund	Implicit
Objective	Do no harm	Do no harm	Peacebuilding	Peacebuilding	Countering extremism and stability
Application to climate adaptation	Moderate	Limited	Moderate	Moderate	Limited
Gender con- siderations	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Operational flexibility	High	Low	High	High	High
Risk appetite	High	Moderate	High	Limited	High

## TABLE 2: ASSESSMENT OF DONOR APPROACHES TO CONFLICT SENSITIVITY IN CLIMATE ADAPTATION PROGRAMMES

(continued on next page)

					(14510 2 00111140
Key strengths	Implicit system that creates flexibility, but still with a few in-built checks and balances. At times, this approach has seemingly allowed 'high-risk, high-reward' initiatives.	The GEF has higher willingness to fund projects in FCSs compared to other donors. In some instances, GEF early funding was catalytic to attract larger investments from other institutions that were initially reluctant to be involved.	Comprehensive FCS strategy committing the WB to fragile and conflict contexts for the long haul. It mandates adaptation of policies and practice in every area of WB engagement, including programming, finance models, risk management, monitoring and reporting, personnel and partnerships.	The dedicated Minka Fund has strong focus on the Sahel, Lake Chad, the Central African Republic and the Middle East, which are hot- spots of conflict and climate vulnerability. Clear maximal- ist approach to build peace and a commitment to act rapidly and nimbly (early activities to be imple- mented within six months of approval), as well as working mainly with NGOs instead of governments.	Apparently higher risk appetite con- cerning work- ing in areas of political violence. Also in-built flexi- bility through working with a small group of trusted im- plementers.
Key weaknesses	Implicit sys- tem relies on time availabil- ity of advisers and profes- sional ethos of civil service. The risks may be a lack of professional incentives for advisers to engage on these issues, or institutional changes driv- en by politics that lowers the size of the ad- visers' cadre.	No formal guidance on conflict sensi- tivity resulting in ad hoc approaches and generally low adoption of conflict sensitivity in programmes. This has resulted in a tendency to target 'safe' areas sub- nationally de- spite a general willingness to engage in FCSs.	The new FCS strategy has not been implemented yet, so it is not possible to judge weak- nesses. The WB's approach to FCSs in the past has been criticised for being too technocratic and not paying enough atten- tion to power dynamics causing con- flict.	A small fund at the moment, whose process- es have been applied to a limited number of adaptation programmes, but has a lot of potential to grow. Also the fund mainstreams conflict sensi- tivity into AFD's activities, which mainly provides loans and fewer grants.	The approach is implicit, relying on its application by policy of- ficers. There have been few 'principal' adaptation projects in the Sahel and Horn of Africa region. More often, climate adaptation is a 'significant' objective of development programmes.

Source: authors' analysis based on literature and key informant interviews.

The approaches analysed have been developed to support wider development programming and are not necessarily specific to climate change adaptation (or mitigation). For several institutions, both conflict and climate change are crosscutting issues to be mainstreamed into programmes, and mechanisms have been set up for each accordingly. The Dutch MFA does not have formal mechanisms to render initiatives conflict sensitive, but has established implicit processes to consider the country and local conflict context through part or the entirety of programmes. This approach relies on the availability and interest of policy officers, technical advisers and implementing partners. The UK FCDO relies on a similar implicit system, but there are central rules around programming to 'do no harm' and manage risks, while also providing guidance on considering conflict sensitivity in the design of programmes in FCSs. In addition, the UK Government has also committed to spending more in FCSs and increasingly to address the drivers of conflict (HM Government, 2018).

The GEF relies mainly upon the regulations and policies of implementing partners, where these exist, to make projects conflict sensitive. This has resulted in ad hoc approaches and in overall low adoption of conflict sensitivity. AFD has created a dedicated fund to mainstream conflict sensitivity but uptake in adaptation programmes is in its early days due to the novelty of the fund. The WB has created a new strategy that puts the work in FCSs at the front and centre of WB's dual objective of ending extreme poverty and boosting shared prosperity (World Bank, 2020b).

All the approaches analysed establish minimum standards to avoid causing harm ('do no harm'), while the World Bank and the AFD go beyond this by targeting the drivers of conflict to proactively build peace. The Dutch MFA makes a step further towards stabilisation activities by pursuing opportunities to prevent violent extremism through development interventions. Although inconsistent, the Department for International Development (DFID, now merged into the FCDO) used to apply the Building Stability Framework (DFID, 2016) to its development spend in fragile states as a means to deliver on commitments to ensure more of its aid addressed underlying drivers of conflict. Excluding the GEF, all donors seem to have processes and mechanisms to maintain a high level of operational flexibility during programme implementation, including flexibility with budgets and contingency financing mechanisms, simplified or third-party monitoring and reporting systems, remote supervision technology, and continuous engagement with implementers that create different decision points at regular intervals.

The analysis also suggests different levels of risk appetite and tolerance between donors. While all donors have low acceptance for risks to financial management and environmental and social safeguards, their willingness to operate in insecure areas seems to differ. The WB and Dutch MFA seem to be more comfortable operating in areas of political violence, on average, given their respective strategic mandates to remain engaged during conflict and crisis situations and to try to maintain stability by countering violence and terrorism. By contrast, the GEF seems to have a more moderate risk appetite. While it has a substantial share of its portfolio (35%) invested in FCSs, the lack of conflict-sensitivity guidelines has resulted in projects targeting 'safer' sites. AFD seems to have a limited risk appetite compared to the other donors, despite the new Minka Fund, due to its status as a development bank providing mostly loans that have requirements for investment return. FCDO is an important donor to FCSs in the Sahel and Horn of Africa though it has provided minimal funding for the 'Extremely Fragile' countries. In the words of a key informant, the FCDO approach can be described as 'high risk, high reward' when opportune while generally seeking to mitigate risks (KII1 Donor, 2021).

# 3. SUMMARIES OF COUNTRY CASE STUDIES

This section summarises findings from case studies in Mali, Somalia and Sudan, on whether adaptation programmes in these countries have been conflict sensitive, and on the barriers and enablers to increased targeting and implementation of adaptation finance. The case studies have a common structure: a brief background to the country's climate and conflict context, and a description of adaptation funding and the climate change policy landscape and institutions; an assessment of conflict sensitivity in adaptation projects; barriers to adaptation finance; and enablers to adaptation finance. The case studies are elaborated in full in the 'Exploring the conflict blind spots in climate adaptation finance in the Sahel and Horn of Africa' sister report.

#### 3.1. Mali

#### **Background and adaptation finance**

Malian weather shows strong variability within and between years, especially in rainfall (World Bank, 2021). Extreme weather events include frequent drought, heavy rains and flash floods, strong winds (especially in the Sahel and Sahara regions), bushfire, and destabilised rainfall patterns (Republic of Mali, 2007; 2016). Five priority sectors have been highlighted as most vulnerable to climate change: agriculture, energy, health, housing and transport infrastructure, and water and forest resources (Republic of Mali, 2018). High temperatures, rainfall variability (including low and extreme rainfall), irregular seasons, repeated droughts, and changing ecosystems are affecting seasonal calendars for planting, harvesting and grazing, increasing livestock mortality, destabilising food security and nutrition, reducing water availability and quality, increasing risks to human health from infectious disease transmission, damaging assets and infrastructure, causing land erosion and degradation (Nagarajan, 2020; USAID, 2012). The results are livelihood precarity, increased poverty, food insecurity, inequality and social vulnerability, breakdowns in social cohesion and increased polarisation between groups co-existing and competing over natural resources (ibid.) (see Figure 3 for a map of Mali's climate vulnerability).

Mali has been in near-perpetual conflict for decades. The complex conflict dynamics have evolved over time but can largely be divided into three principal phases: the Tuareg-Jihadist insurgency (2012); military pacification (2013–2015); and resurgence of conflict (2015–present) (SPARC, 2021). In addition to this conflict, clashes between pastoralists and farmers have a long history, as different livelihoods and ethnic groups have overlapped and co-existed for centuries. Recently these inter-communal clashes have become more deadly as land and resources become scarcer, access to arms is easier, and government policies favour agricultural over pastoralist livelihoods (ICG, 2016).

Several climate change policies exist in Mali. The National Action Plan on Adaptation to Climate Change (NAPA) was developed in 2007 and is closely linked to the development objectives in the Cadre Strategique pour la Croissance et al Réduction de la Pauvreté (CSCRP) and the Stratégie de Développement Rural (SDR). The National Policy on Climate Change (PNCC) 2025 was passed in 2011 and serves as a reference framework for the different interventions related to climate change in Mali. There are no nationally accredited organisations to the GCF or GEF. Multilateral climate finance flows via UN agencies (such as UNDP) as the implementing agency, and execution may be shared with L'Agence de l'Environnement et du Développement Durable (AEDD), a government institution created in 2010, which is responsible for the coordination of activities to respond to climate change. The Mali Climate Fund (MCF), financed via Swedish and Norwegian aid, acts as a mechanism for national adaptation investment. The Mali Climate Fund, is managed by UNDP and housed in AEDD, whereby multi-donor

#### FIGURE 3: CLIMATE VULNERABILITY IN MALI



Source: Sherbinin et al., 2014, p.41.

Note: the vulnerability index is divided into quintiles where each category contains an equal number of pixels; the colour scale goes from blue (least vulnerable to climate change) to red (most vulnerable to climate change). For the full methodology, see Sherbinin et al. (2014).

groups formed of national NGOs, the Government of Mali, and UN Agencies (UN Women, the UN Development Programme (UNDP), the UN Environment Programme (UNEP) and the World Food Programme) access financing from the MCF (KII1 Mali, 2021). The FCDO has also supported decentralised climate finance linking AEDD to the local government via the BRACED project.

#### **Conflict sensitivity**

National climate policies such as the NAPA, the nationally determined contribution (NDC) and the Green Investment Plan explicitly recognise the interplay between climatic variability, extreme weather, land-use pressures, transhumance, and the potential for communal conflict. For example, the first NDC states that improving and protecting the natural resource base may help to reduce conflict between famers and pastoralists. The NAPA recognises that changes in natural flood systems and frequent droughts are weakening and degrading ecosystems, driving migration which may result in land disputes and conflict.

Almost all regions now experience armed violence, as conflict has spread. The areas most affected by the current conflict are the regions of Menaka, Gao and Mopti, especially near the border with Burkina Faso and Niger (ACLED, n.d.; SPARC, 2021) (see Figure 4). Adaptation programmes reviewed were being implementing within a conflict-affected region (such as Mopti) but were restricted to more stable areas, targeting cercles where 'security permits' and not in 'disputed areas' (KII2 Mali, 2021; IFAD, 2017; World Bank, 2018a; 2018b) (see Figure 4).<sup>6</sup> This review was based largely on proposals that were available. From these, we found that proposals did not provide consistent evidence that conflict analyses had been undertaken to inform project design. Some proposals also lacked clear plans on future conflict analyses that would be used to inform and adapt implementation over the programme duration. As climate finance is not intended directly to address the complex dynamics of insecurity or political conflict, the adaptation projects analysed tended to focus aims or objectives on reducing intercommunity tensions over access to shared natural resources (land, water, grazing). To achieve these aims, the projects proposed typical participatory activities on increasing local actor capacity via training on conflict resolution. No evaluations of the adaptation programmes were publicly available for review as part of this study, therefore it was not possible to investigate the impact of the programmes.

#### Barriers

#### Fundamental barriers to accessing international multilateral climate financing persist.

These barriers are not unique to conflict settings, to Mali, nor necessarily to adaptation finance. They include: linguistic challenges for Francophone countries to complete lengthy paperwork required in English for GEF and GCF proposals; a lack of national experts familiar with the standards of the GCF and GEF, and the extensive portfolio of previous work; and underfinancing of the public sector and low technical capacity to manage the funds at regional or local level, limiting the government's ability to access financing and then manage adaptation programmes and strategies. These persistent challenges create a circular relationship between lack of access due to low government capacity, which the four readiness grants received from the GCF since 2015 are attempting to break.

Several factors associated with the conflict context also provided barriers to access adaptation finance.

#### The minimum data required for proposals is lacking in certain conflict-affected zones.

Data of the granularity and specificity required in the GEF or GCF proposals is not available for certain areas of Mali, notably those with historic and on-going conflict. For example, data on climate observations and projections (rainfall or temperature measures) or the amount of carbon a given project will sequester are not available at the local level for many regions in Mali, and especially those that have had high levels of insecurity (KII1 Mali, 2021; KII2 Mali, 2021). Armed opposition groups routinely prevent teams from accessing areas to conduct participatory or gender assessments, which are a key component of many of the climate finance mechanisms (KII5 Mali, 2021).

**Bureaucratic processes are lengthy for such a rapidly changing context.** The process of developing projects via the GEF and GCF is heavy, which is not compatible with a rapidly changing landscape of conflict and humanitarian needs (KII5 Mali, 2021).

<sup>6</sup> This study did not find existing research geolocating climate adaptation programmes in Somalia and Sudan, akin to the one carried out by AEDD and GIZ (2017) in Mali, and was therefore unable to create similar maps for these two country case studies.

#### FIGURE 4A: GEOLOCALISED CONFLICT EVENTS IN MALI



Source: Administrative boundaries: OCHA, Conflict data: ACLED

#### FIGURE 4B: GEOLOCALISED CLIMATE ADAPTATION PROGRAMMES IN MALI



Source: AEDD & GIZ (2017) Mapping of Climate Change Projects in Mali (2014–2017)

Note: The geolocation of climate adaptation projects in Mali is only reported at the 'Cercle' level (2nd level administrative unit) in AEDD and GIZ (2017), whereas the conflict events in the ACLED database are reported in longitudinal and latitudinal coordinates and can therefore be located at the 'Commune' level (3rd level administrative unit).

The conflict context in Mali presents challenges common to both development and adaptation financing. The challenging, insecure operating environment is a deterrent to donor investment. Donors are hesitant to fund projects in areas in which investments may be destroyed by the activities of armed groups (KII5 Mali, 2021). Thus programmes often omit the conflict-affected zones, and some of the people most vulnerable to climate change.

Some donors prefer to operate where the government is still present, to align adaptation finance with government development plans in order to maximise the possibility that interventions will be sustained (KII2 Mali, 2021). When this is the case, huge swathes of the country in which the government has vanished have no possibility of accessing climate finance.

The extent to which programmes can be flexible or adapt to flares in conflict appears **limited.** Substantial time and bureaucratic procedures are required to change the target intervention area originally specified if an escalation in conflict touches the intervention area. This is a factor in choosing the more 'secure' areas for interventions.

**Malian institutions are unable to access national financing mechanisms directly.** While the Mali Climate Fund exists as a national financing mechanism for Malian institutions (NGOs and the government), not one national institution has yet accessed this money unless it is in partnership with a UN agency (WFP, UNEP, UN Women).

#### Enablers

**Strong donor coordination which focuses on aligning projects.** GIZ conducted a mapping of the different climate change adaptation programmes in Mali across 2014–2017. Such mapping exercises are important in identifying areas in which multiple actors are operating, and should be working synergistically, and also those areas in which there is limited investment and presence.

Dedicated and strong institutional partners who support technical and institutional capacity development at regional and local levels, to access and implement international financing. While the AEDD is generally considered to have strong fiduciary processes, the public sector as a whole is underfinanced, with limited technical capacity to manage the funds at regional or local level.

**Ensuring that Mali's decentralised architecture is used to channel funds to local populations.** The BRACED DCF programme highlighted the importance of funds reaching the local populations who are best placed to create locally appropriate governance and adaptation plans (KII1 Mali, 2021). The BRACED Decentralising Climate Funds programme proved that it is possible to route the climate fund through the decentralisation system in place in Mali, whereby the local authorities can act as a 'gateway for all resilience and climate fund management planning' (NEF, 2019).

#### 3.2. Somalia

#### **Background and adaptation finance**

Somalia's vulnerabilities lie in the agricultural and water sectors, exposure to cyclone and sea-level rise along the country's extensive coastline, and relating to vector- and water-borne diseases. Agriculture and water are particular concerns in the short to medium term. Increased

temperatures will severely impact the livestock sector via livestock feed intake, mortality, growth and production. With increasing temperatures, water consumption will increase while water availability will decrease, causing additional water stress (World Bank, 2021). Crops will require more water while being under increased water stress. Water scarcity is worsened by conflict-related destruction of supporting infrastructure and inadequate water management and maintenance (FRS, 2013).

Climate change is addressed in the NAPA (FRS, 2013), NDC (FGS, 2015), and National Development Plan (NDP) (MoPIED, 2020) policy documents. Climate adaptation programming is more influenced by the NDP, and more recently and to a lesser extent, the NDC (FGS, 2015). GCF and LDCF flows for climate change adaptation are limited. They fund capacity-building nationwide and within states, with projects implemented in areas free from conflict with militants. Funds flow primarily through the accredited UNDP and, to a lesser extent, the African Development Bank (AfDB). World Bank's recently approved Somalia Crisis Recovery Project (World Bank, 2020a), which addresses climate adaptation directly in part, runs from 2020 to 2024. Implementing agencies are primarily federal and state ministries and international NGOs with local CSO support. International institutions, including contractors, NGOs, and technical service providers, access climate, and other development and humanitarian, funding from bilateral and multilateral donors. Donors vary in how directive they are about controlling finance flows, project partnerships and implementation (KII8 Somalia, 2021).

Donors including the EU, Italy, USAID, UK Aid and the World Bank have supported the Somalia Water and Land Information Management (SWALIM) programme since 2003 in various phases, implemented by FAO (FAO, 2021). The UK FCDO supports Building Resilient Communities in Somalia (BRCiS), taking a holistic approach to helping communities resist shocks without undermining poverty alleviation, including climate adaptation (NRC, 2021).

#### **Conflict sensitivity**

The NAPA (FRS, 2013), NDC (FGS, 2015), and NDP (MoPIED, 2020) each recognise conflict and the different impacts caused by Al-Shabaab and local conflict drivers. The NDP goes further and acknowledges that Al-Shabaab exploits local struggles. Yet conflict is not defined and appears treated as a crosscutting dynamic, causing varying degrees of risk to national development and climate adaptation efforts (MoPIED, 2020). None of these national climaterelated policies address how conflict sensitivity has or will be integrated into development and related programming in conflict settings.

Conflict sensitivity takes two forms; avoidance of areas controlled by militias like Al-Shabaab and addressing community-based conflict threatening project sectoral outcomes. Adaptation programmes in Somalia appear designed to cope with communal conflict, and avoid political conflict, and reduce environmental stressors. GCF, for example, focuses on sectors including livelihoods, water and health. Conflict sensitivity actively addresses, or copes with, historical communal conflict among beneficiaries represented largely by rural communities, including farmers, herders, and water user groups. Tools for mitigating conflict are generally vague and approaches depend on implementation agency practices, including the use of customary resolution mechanisms to resolve disputes, alongside consultation with local leaders over project implementation decisions (UNDP, 2014).

#### FIGURE 5: GEOLOCALISED CONFLICTS IN SOMALIA



Source: Administrative boundaries: OCHA, Conflict data: ACLED

#### Barriers

#### Territory controlled by militias is currently excluded from climate investment opportunity.

International institutions funding climate adaptation were clear in interviews that they will invest only in places that are stable now (KII5 Somalia, 2021), and anticipated to be so for years to come (KII4 Somalia, 2021). They emphasised that climate-related funding should not be seen as a substitute for stabilisation (KII1 Somalia, 2021) or humanitarian funding (KII6 Somalia, 2021), and would not intervene where there is serious conflict in general (KII7 Somalia, 2021).

The Somali Government is uncoordinated and lacks the capacity to develop bankable climate adaptation projects. Governance obstacles include: a lack of technical and management capacity in central and state government; conflict between central government and states; competition between ministries and personnel within ministries; high staff turnover and a lack of institutional memory; collapsed systems including those needed to demonstrate fiduciary responsibility; and corruption.

There is limited knowledge and capacity to respond to climate change on national and local levels. Ministries active in the environmental sector in all zones of Somalia have limited understanding of climate change and its impact on ecosystem services (KII11 Somalia, 2021). Other than the NAPA (FRS, 2013), there are few policies, strategies or development plans that effectively address adaptation to climate risk.

Political divisions, particularly between the three distinct regions of Federal Somalia, Puntland and Somaliland, make programme implementation challenging (UNDP, 2014). Administrative structures have been created since the establishment of Federal Member States, and district councils are still being formed in a number of them, completing a process begun in the 1990s in Somaliland and Puntland (World Bank, 2020a). The National Development Plan makes clear the contrast between Puntland, considered supportive of the Federal Government of Somalia, and Somaliland with its own constitution and administration and self-declared as a separate state, unrecognised internationally or by the rest of Somalia (MoPIED, 2020).

**The GCF accreditation mechanism comes under heavy criticism from many non-accredited agencies** (KII11 Somalia, 2021). Becoming accredited is out of reach for most institutions. For many institutions like NGOs, GCF funding needs an entirely different approach to traditional ways of working, as project design must go through the government, NDC leads, and NDC Paris Agreement sectors. Proposal development requires one to two years of work, funded entirely by the applicant without guarantee of producing a bankable project (KII6 Somalia, 2021). Even globally accredited agencies may find it easier to seek funding at national levels through other certified partners (KII11 Somalia, 2021). This is a problem encountered for many LDCs and appears acute in fragile states where institutional capacity and memory are particularly limited.

**Finding co-finance for GEF applications is a substantial barrier**. For example, if a donor agency contributed \$10 million to a programme, GEF through AfDB may be able to add only \$3 million in co-finance, which may be too small a contribution.

#### Enablers

**Any progress, albeit fragile, toward stabilisation will be an increasingly critical enabler.** This creates the opportunity to move away from short-term, essentially humanitarian-led, programming to a long-term focus on climate and other development investment.

The appointment within the UN systems of a Climate Security Advisor is helping with more coherent approaches. Dedicated attention to the climate-security nexus is providing opportunity to consider long-term approaches to addressing climate adaptation in conflict-affected places.

**Donor alignment with the NDP is empowering the government to select programmes it wants to be implemented, even if finance will not flow through its channels.** Somalia's NAPA appears undervalued, and the NDC is limited in influence.

**Programmes that have flexibility to adapt to changing conflict dynamics are best placed to implement work successfully.** Flexibility depends on donor regulations. It applies to both militia-based conflict, permitting rapid activity to start up in areas recently taken back into government control, and historical clan and community-based conflict. It also applies to responding to hazards such as drought, flooding and locust swarms.

#### 3.3. Sudan

#### **Background and adaptation finance**

Sudan has experienced increasing frequency of droughts and high rainfall variability, leading to disastrous floods, during the past decades (Government of Sudan, 2015). This is predicted to increase with climate change, contributing to: (1) increased unpredictability of seasonal rains, (2) increased average temperature of 1.5–3°C by 2050, (3) increased incidence of drought, and

(4) rising sea levels and higher storm surges (Met Office, 2016; USAID, 2016). This has and will continue to increase climate vulnerability in the region's rainfed agriculture and pastoralist systems, on which most livelihoods depend. The country's agricultural climate risks include the loss of productive land, pasture and water due to expanded desertification, shortened growing season, reduced yields and crop failure, and increased conflict between pastoralists and farmers over limited land and resources. In addition, the water sector will face: increased evaporation from water storage facilities, reducing water supply; decreased river flows from the Nile (up to 20–30% by 2090), reducing availability of water for irrigation, drinking and sanitation; and increased conflict over rights and access to water, especially given increased pressure on water supply (USAID, 2016).

Sudan's agriculture sector contributes 39% of GDP, employs 50% of the labour force and is a source of livelihood to approximately 65% of the population (UNEP, 2020). Some 46.5% of the population is living in poverty. The secession of South Sudan in 2011, along with prevalent fragility from previous regimes that had close links with Al Qaeda, has negatively impacted Sudan's economy, with a loss of 32% of GDP from 2015 to 2019 (World Bank Open Data). This included a reduction of land coverage by 24.7% (UNEP, 2020), economic sanctions imposed by the USA and a loss of 75% of national oil reserves to South Sudan (IFAD, 2013). In turn, it induced an influx of refugees into Sudan, contributing to already prominent population pressure. Sudan hosts high volumes of refugees from South Sudan, Eritrea, Syria, Yemen and Chad. Lastly, inflation has been continuously increasing: from 11% in 2009 to a soaring average of 197% in 2021 (Statista, 2021), increasing fuel prices and triggering violent protests.

Even though environmental policy development has advanced since 2005, the policies lack clarity in how to combat land degradation, desertification and climate change. The lack of data, including crucial climate information, affects the quality of these policies and strategies. The climate agenda is centrally led via the Higher Council for Environment and Natural Resources (HCENR) as of April 2020. This council is chaired by the Prime Minister and heads of ministries and acts as the national designated authority (NDA) for the GCF. There are no nationally accredited organisations to the GCF or GEF in Sudan. Finance mechanisms for climate adaptation have primarily been channelled through multilateral development banks and UN agencies to support government. Through the GCF readiness programme, UNDP and FAO accessed \$1 million each to support in 2020, respectively. However, the UNDP readiness programme resulted in government returning left over funding due to administrative complexities and misunderstandings. The magnitude of this issue is not clear.

#### **Conflict sensitivity**

All national climate policies (NAPA, National Biodiversity Action Plan, NDC, NAP) recognise the strong linkage between conflict resolution and climate adaptation. The NAPA 2007 recognises nature-based conflict as one of the many non-climatic factors contributing to the vulnerability of rural communities in Sudan. The identification of climate adaptation investment opportunities is led by donors, multilateral organisations and NGOs in close collaboration with the government. The NAPA has identified adaptation projects relevant for Sudan and has enabled multilaterals and donors to ensure alignment to this list.

Most adaptation investments reviewed have targeted areas in states in which there is communal conflict over natural resources, and a degree of stabilisation that would favour project succession. Across the country, climate-vulnerable areas experiencing armed conflict have been avoided, as operational risks and associated costs are deemed too high, and
#### FIGURE 6: GEOLOCALISED CONFLICTS IN SUDAN



therefore present high levels of uncertainty. All climate adaptation investments reviewed have featured strong community participatory processes at the design stage and throughout the project cycle, ensuring inclusivity, relevance and overall ownership and uptake of investments. Even though assessment and analysis tools exist<sup>7</sup> and are referred to, there is a recognition across a multitude of actors that the nexus of climate change and conflict can be better understood and therefore better addressed.

#### Barriers

There is a lack of capacity for direct access by the Government of Sudan to climate funds such as the GCF. Overall, the combination of the GCF's complex and rigid guidelines, criteria and accreditation process, and low government capacities, deters the government in directly accessing such funding opportunities. This includes funding directed towards capacity-building, where UN agencies are better placed to support access.

**Climate data is scarce, limiting the effective allocation of climate finance to the most vulnerable areas.** The limited weather stations available do not cover the whole of the country, and historic analyses from the data gathered do not represent the different climatic zones across the 18 different states in Sudan. This data is also extremely limited for assessing future projections for different climate scenarios.

<sup>7</sup> Such as the USAID conflict assessment and analysis tools, UNDP methods for analysing projects with conflict dimensions, and World Bank conflict analysis framework (CAF) – Identifying Conflict-Related Obstacles to Development (Shardesai, 2002).

**Flexibility to project changes is heavily dependent on donor requirements.** Most funders offer adaptive programming to changes in project implementation due to unforeseen issues, but there is recognition of the need to anticipate operational risks in the project design stage. In turn, implementing and executing entities have found that climate finance, from GEF and GCF, involves administrative procedures too complex and rigid to comply with, especially in areas affected by conflict. This includes the long time it takes to get a change approved, causing major delays in project activities.

#### Enablers

The 'enabling environment' has been improved, especially regarding Sudan's climate policies and plans. This has increased international interest in supporting the Government of Sudan to benefit from climate finance. At the national level, the recently established HCENR puts the climate agenda at centre stage, being led by the prime minister and drawing on ministers across government to join as committee members. Even though it is too early to ascertain its effectiveness, this is a positive example of breaking the 'climate' institutional silo.

There are various coordination mechanisms between climate actors, including government entities, multilaterals and NGOs, that help to avoid duplication of effort and to encourage partnership. Many humanitarian actors and peacekeeping missions are involved in climate discussions and in a climate-change working group led by UNEP.

**Natural resource management adaptation projects have included relevant trainings of local project facilitators and leaders.** Training topics often covered include: participatory decision-making, management of conflicts over natural resources, understanding basic concepts related to resource management, gender issues related to resource management, and how to develop participatory action plans during implementation (ZOA, 2018).

Several adaptation investments have contained contingency plans for when conflict breaks out, in conjunction with local conflict-resolution mechanisms. This includes continuously updated site security and contingency plans, and regular trainings of staff and beneficiaries. Ensuring conflict sensitivity training to direct and indirect beneficiaries, especially on migratory routes, has been shown to increase awareness of investment benefits.

# **4. LESSONS LEARNT**



This section synthesises key findings, common themes, and knowledge gaps from across the donor analysis and country case studies (please refer to the 'Exploring the conflict blind spots in climate adaptation finance in the Sahel and Horn of Africa' sister report to read these in full). The insights are clustered into the 'three essential components' of conflict sensitivity (outlined in Section 1.3), illustrating whether and how adaptation programmes have been conflict-sensitive, and around the barriers to accessing adaptation finance in FCSs.

### 4.1. Limited information on conflict analyses informing adaptation

There was limited information on the depth, scale and regularity of conflict analyses informing planning and design of adaptation interventions. A comprehensive understanding and analysis of the conflict context is a key component of effective conflict sensitivity in programmes. However, project proposals analysed across the three countries did not provide consistent evidence that conflict analyses had been undertaken to inform project design. Often, whether a conflict analysis had been conducted was present only as a footnote or requested in the thematic review and revision process during proposal submission and funding decisions. A lack of donor strategies and policy guidance linking climate change with conflict and fragility may have contributed to gaps in integrated climate and conflict analysis. On a related note, key informants have shared that donor conflict programming is also not yet properly integrating climate risks into conflict analyses.

Programme proposals varied in the evidence and degree of conflict analysis used to inform proposal design and inform implementation over programme duration. In Mali, for instance, it was unclear whether conflict analyses were systematically carried out as part of the proposal design. When they were carried out, programmes that were more focused on infrastructure and providing basic services (such as access to water, sanitation and irrigation) tended to be concerned about the impacts of conflict in terms of 'security awareness' towards personnel and investments. On the other hand, programmes focusing on resilience tended to be more conflict sensitive by ensuring that regular conflict analyses and people-centred activities could be harnessed to promote conflict management and resolution. In Sudan, all the projects reviewed conducted conflict analyses that recommended conflict-mitigation measures. However, key informants felt that the quality of risk assessments for adaptation investments, especially considering the climate–conflict nexus, could be improved as local power dynamics were often missed.

#### There is a lack of donor strategies and policies linking climate change to conflict and

**fragility.** Learnings from the GEF highlight the negative impacts of not having conflictsensitivity guidance for climate and environmental projects in FCSs (GEF IEO, 2020). The World Bank's experience shows the importance of adopting a comprehensive strategy that makes conflict and fragility front and centre of operations in these contexts, to be impactful and sustained (World Bank, 2020b). For some donors, however, the nexus of climate, conflict and fragility is a new focus area. AFD, for instance, is yet to develop a clear strategic approach to address the nexus (KII4 Donor, 2021), whereas the Dutch MFA has a clear approach rooted in a security perspective outlined in the 2018 Integrated International Security Strategy (MFA, 2018). Both conflict and climate change are issues with long timelines, requiring adequate long-term policies. In general, donors should have mid- to long-term time horizons if they are serious in their engagement in FCSs, but these decisions are often influenced by national political priorities. For instance, DFID in the UK had a time-horizon of 10–15 years as an international development agency, but this outlook is now being moderated by shorter-cycle foreign-policy priorities after the merger with the former Foreign and Commonwealth Office (KII1 Donor, 2021).

## 4.2. Risk analyses tend to neglect the two-way interaction between interventions and the conflict context

Conflict sensitivity involves a holistic understanding of the two-way interaction between intervention and the conflict context. However, the review of adaptation documentation in this study reveals that the most consistent focus was given to operational hazards – how an escalation in conflict might affect an intervention – with less attention to the potential impact of the intervention on conflict ('do no harm'). This may be caused by local adaptation planning not having a central role to reflect local priorities, including on conflict dynamics.

Most projects have focused on being 'security aware', rather than on potential impacts on conflict dynamics. Security-aware strategies involved relocating project activities where possible, or avoiding certain areas in the country. However, the level of flexibility granted to projects to do this varied and depended on donors' regulations. In Mali, substantial time and bureaucratic procedures were required to change the target intervention area originally specified if an escalation in conflict touched the intervention area. This led to choosing more 'secure' areas for interventions. In Sudan, projects also faced long waits for a change to get approved due to rigid administrative procedures of climate finance. In Somalia, international institutions funding adaptation programmes anticipated investing only in places that are stable for the foreseeable future. Several investments did create contingency plans for outbreaks of conflict in conjunction to local conflict resolution mechanisms, including continuously updating site security and contingency plans, regular trainings of staff and beneficiaries, especially along migratory routes, and accounting for cultural norms and internal dynamics in investment areas.

Projects that acknowledged potential impacts to the conflict context focused on communal tensions, generally over land and water resources and typified by farmer–herder conflicts. When this information existed in project documentation, the positive impacts (e.g. a reduction in tension, better shared resource use) were highlighted, but rarely was there upfront explicit analysis of the potential negative, unintended impacts an adaptation programme could cause. In all three case studies, projects adopted a variety of mechanisms and tools to increase conflict sensitivity and mitigate unintended consequences. These included: increasing local actor capacity via training on conflict resolution; and emphasis on community dialogues, participatory decision-making, gender issues, establishment of community committees, conventions and pre-agreed complaints procedures, which would be monitored via regular or periodic visits to the communities. In many projects, conflict-resolution strategies based on traditional norms and local administration systems were also implemented.

A lack of conflict sensitivity may be explained by challenges of adaptation money flowing to the local level and empowering local planning. Adaptation needs to happen at the local level, yet there was little evidence indicating that money is being channelled in a decentralised way to reach local actors, except for the experience of the BRACED Decentralising Climate Funds project in Mali (IIED, 2015; BRACED, 2021), deciding how best to manage resources. Even when there are dedicated national financing mechanisms for climate change, such as the Mali Climate Fund, neither the government nor NGOS have been able to access funding directly, but only through a UN agency. Beyond the challenges to accessing climate finance in FCSs, there are major challenges in channelling money generally to local areas for local priorities that may or may not be experiencing conflict. This may be due to donors and implementing agencies being biased toward their technical specialities, and central government biased towards geographically and ethnically preferred groups. For instance, Somalia's NDP distinguishes the support provided to Puntland, considered supportive of the Federal Government of Somalia, and Somaliland, with its own constitution and administration and self-declared as a separate state, unrecognised internationally or by the rest of Somalia.

## **4.3. Investment often avoids armed conflict areas, leaving behind vulnerable people**

In all three case study contexts, where insecurity and conflict levels were deemed too high, donors' commitment to avoid reinforcing conflict dynamics often manifested as active decisions not to invest in areas under militia control, leaving behind populations in these vulnerable areas. While climate finance is not intended to address directly the complex dynamics of insecurity or political conflict involving jihadist and terrorist armed groups, avoiding such areas means that the highly vulnerable populations living under militia control cannot be reached directly. The type of conflict also determined where adaptation projects were implemented, as most investments targeted areas prone to communal conflict over natural resources. Reducing inter-communal land-use and water disputes has been seen as an entry point for climate adaptation programmes to make joining rebel or armed groups less desirable. They aim to do this by improving living conditions through addressing pressures on public services, reducing poverty by enhancing resilience of landscapes and natural resource bases, stimulating employment and addressing consequences of displacement.

**Donors' decisions about where to operate seems to be influenced by their risk perception and processes to manage risks.** This in turn is influenced by their national parliaments' and public opinion's appetite for such risks and potential for failures. FCSs tend to involve large risks, even after taking mitigation measures (i.e. residual risks). In terms of security risks, AFD adaptation projects have tended to work in capitals, focusing on technical assistance, where there are fewer security risks (KII4 Donor, 2021: 4). Similarly, some GEF projects have targeted areas unaffected by conflict to reduce the level of risk (GEF IEO, 2020). The World Bank has reported on underestimating complexity and risks in FCSs and having to pull back operations once these materialise, which has been inconsistent with its role of tackling the most important development challenges (World Bank, 2020b). The FCDO, on the other hand, has demonstrated a higher risk tolerance in the Rural Water for Sudan (RW4S) project, which operates in Darfur where conflict events have been higher. The Dutch MFA, driven by its approach centred on security, seems more inclined to work in areas of political violence.

In general, there are different levels of fiduciary risk appetite and tolerance among the donors analysed in this study, which influences the level of flexibility for investments to respond to rapid changes in the conflict landscape and overall. For some donors, such as AFD and the Dutch MFA, there may also be concern with image risks associated with investing in FCSs, as their militaries or police forces are also supporting state-building activities (KII2 Donor, 2021; KII4 Donor, 2021). This may threaten their perceived neutrality.

**Donors may need more expertise or to provide more incentives to cultivate support for the conflict and climate nexus.** As mentioned, for some donors the nexus is a new focus area. Without a long-term strategy, such as the WB new strategy, donors and implementing organisations may not yet have adequate internal expertise and systems to address the nexus of conflict and climate. For instance, FCDO has around 65 climate advisers and over 100 conflict advisers but only one person is currently working across both cadres. Institutional incentives and support are required for employees to make personal career commitments to these issues and be willing to be deployed to these complex contexts. There is often a problem

of staff turnover within the donor organisation, which becomes an even bigger issue on the ground when people in partner governments, implementing organisations or civil society organisations leave, as building up trust again with newcomers takes time.

**Donor coordination is further needed to improve the geographic and programmatic range of conflict-sensitive climate projects.** There is an uneven distribution of programmes across FCSs that tend to focus activities in secure areas. This creates hotspots of investment and cold zones of communities left behind. The effectiveness of existing in-country donor coordination platforms is unclear. In Sudan, there are several coordination mechanisms involving government institutions, multilaterals and NGOs, including a climate change working group led by UNEP, which has been inactive, and a voluntary platform set up by the NGO ZOA in Darfur. Yet key informants argued that these platforms are not transparent and are marred by competition among international organisation for climate finance. While many humanitarian actors and peacekeeping missions participate in climate discussions, their interests do not always align with those of development and climate actors. Furthering partnerships with government, civil society and the private sector at subnational levels is especially needed to support communities overlooked in conflict and post-conflict settings.

## **4.4. Adaptation programmes miss opportunities to support conflict prevention**

Adaptation programmes have not consistently provided evidence of an intention to maximise opportunities for positive impacts on conflict prevention or resolution, despite these opportunities existing. A lack of access to complete adaptation project documentation, monitoring and evaluation reports, and post-programme impact assessments meant that it was not possible to determine the impact of climate finance on multi-dimensional levels of conflict. Moreover, most historical funding in FCSs has been humanitarian-focused with varying levels of climate-sensitivity, and the difference between funding for climate adaptation and development is often blurred. Basic development needs are seldom met in these contexts and therefore it was challenging to identify 'pure' adaptation activities and the impacts they have. This has made it difficult to analyse the impact of adaptation finance on conflict. Thus, a large unknown remains in whether adaptation-financed activity is exacerbating, reducing or having a neutral impact on conflict and inequality.

There is substantial opportunity and increased appetite to use adaptation financing in programmes working on communal conflict. As communal conflict often interacts, overlaps and is seized upon by political conflict, there is substantial opportunity to improve overall security via adaptation-financed programmes targeting shared ecosystem resource-use. In Somalia, UNEP has appointed the first UN environmental security adviser, who is emphasising approaching communities using the environment and climate change as hazards that all parties agree to mitigate, rather than commencing dialogue over current conflicts. Discussions also indicate an increased interest in focusing on southern, conflict-impacted areas and in general for projects to be more needs based and geographically uniform. In Mali, more recent programmes focused on communal violence have embraced holistic, nexus-integrated landscape use and area-based approaches to help reduce and prevent the competition and conflict between different user groups, and to help support the peace agreements and provide livelihoods to help stem the flow of youth joining extremist groups. Building on these programmes offers a refreshed approach, improving the way climate and security are integrated in programme finance and implementation, ultimately supporting the long-term adaptation of highly vulnerable populations.

### 4.5. Conflict worsens the problems of accessing climate finance

While not unique to FCSs, the persistent challenges in accessing adaptation finance are exacerbated by instability associated with conflict conditions. Donors need to consider three main issues to improve access to adaptation financing in FCSs: (1) Weak government capacity and governance, arising from or contributing to conflict, is central to understanding current climate-finance access and delivery modalities in conflict-affected contexts; (2) Donors' demanding bureaucratic requirements, especially concerning fiscal risks, result in the control of concept note and proposal development being ceded to international institutions; and (3) the minimum data required for proposals is often simply lacking in certain conflict-affected zones.

The different levels of government understanding and knowledge of climate change challenges determine their engagement with international climate finance. In Somalia, for instance, ministries have limited understanding of climate change and its impact on ecosystem services. There are also few policies, strategies and development plans that effectively address climate risks other than the NAPA, which is dated and addressed urgent, short-term adaptation needs. This has influenced the Somali Government's reactive stance to climate shocks, such as droughts, and slow-onset stresses, waiting for disasters to strike and then seeking humanitarian finance from donors (which has easier access compared to climate finance but is more expensive). Conflict is treated in a similar vein. Development partners are working with the government to shift this reactive mentality towards anticipatory preparation and longer-term climate adaptation, while improving their own understanding and practice, but this is proving challenging.

In contrast, Sudan's stronger climate policy environment, where linkages between conflict resolution and climate adaptation are clearly made in national climate and environmental policies, has led to strong international interest in supporting the government to benefit from climate finance. The newly created Higher Council for Environment and Natural Resources, led by the prime minister and with departmental ministers as committee members, is the national designated authority for the GCF and is making the climate agenda central to government work. In 2021, Sudan has two approved adaptation projects from the GCF, of which one is under implementation (GCF, 2021).

**Weak government capacity to meet fiduciary standards.** State institutions may lack the public financial management (PFM) systems and capacity to mitigate fiduciary risks, including on fraud and corruption, to manage climate funds (and indeed humanitarian and development funds). In Mali, the problem is concentrated at the regional and local level. In Somalia, UN institutions and other donors tend not to channel money through the government due to poor coordination and competition between ministries, and scope for corruption. Some donors, especially bilateral, address this problem by funding directly implementing partners and service providers locally, such as in Sudan for the Aqua4Darfur Partnership Water for Sustainable Development in Darfur project funded by the UK and the EU. There is an inherent tension and balance to strike between working via the government, in the hope of scaling up effective programmes and ensuring sustainability of programme impacts, and through international implementing partners, which entails generally higher transaction costs and less money reaching the ground but less concern about corruption.

High staff turnover, and loss of skilled personnel and institutional memory, contribute significantly to governments' low institutional capacity. Interviewees in all three countries mentioned that higher salaries in international organisations draw away technical expertise,

skills and capacity from the public sector across national, regional and local scales. Even when the capacity of staff members is raised, there are high chances that they will move to projects offering higher salaries or seek to emigrate. Poor knowledge transfer is also mentioned as a key problem. In Sudan, although nature-based-solution interventions have been implemented for over 20 years, even if not necessarily classified as climate adaptation efforts, high staff turnover and ineffective knowledge transfer has led to poor institutional memory. This will hinder the effectiveness of future investments.

Donor access requirements for climate finance are complex and rigid for national institutions and do not seem to account for rapidly changing conflict contexts. This is especially the case for the GCF, which has an accreditation system that is lengthy and complex, and too demanding for national institutions in FCSs facing rapidly changing landscapes of conflict and humanitarian needs. Key informants in all three case-study countries criticised the rigid guidelines and criteria for accreditation to multilateral climate funds. In Somalia, key informants indicated that proposal development may require one or two years of work, funded entirely by the applicant without guarantee of producing a bankable project.<sup>8</sup> Even in cases where projects are approved, the approval process seems too lengthy and not fit for the conflict context. In Sudan, it took four years to approve UNDP's GCF project 'Building resilience in the face of climate change within traditional rain fed agricultural and pastoral systems in Sudan', involving back and forth and further assessments required by the GCF, including a detailed conflict risk assessment. This questions the quality of upfront proposal guidance and technical assistance from the GCF to accredited entities. In addition, the lengthy paperwork required in English is a challenge for Francophone countries such as Mali.

In the three case-study countries, only multilateral organisations are accredited to the GCF. Globally, there were 124 international access entities (IAEs) and only 35 direct access entities (DAEs) as of October 2020, and, while the growth of the latter is faster than the former, multilaterals still acquire most of the funding. The round of proposals approval at the GCF Board's 27th meeting saw 81% (\$5.8 billion) channelled through IAEs and only 19% (\$1.4 billion) through DAEs (Schalatek and Watson, 2020).

The GCF has taken different measures and launched pilots to address access problems. It created a readiness programme to support countries to increase their capacity to access its funding, but only 22% of the overall readiness funding has been allocated to FCSs, with only 12% (\$29.7 million) disbursed in 2021 (CFU, 2021). Sudan faced issues with the readiness programme, with the UNDP programme being closed down and the government returning affiliated finances due to administrative complexities and misunderstandings.

The GCF has also launched a dedicated-window pilot to enhance direct access for national organisations, under which local institutions make their own decisions about how to programme resources once the funding has been approved. Individual projects do not need to be presented in the funding proposal or submitted to the board for approval. However, only two such proposals had been approved by the end of 2020, since the pilot launch in 2016 (Schalatek and Watson, 2020).

Additionally, the GCF launched a simplified approval process (SAP) pilot scheme in 2017 'to apply best practices to reduce the time and effort needed in the preparation, review, approval and disbursement procedures for proposals of certain activities, in particular small-scale activities'

<sup>8</sup> Non-accredited entities can respond to a Request for Proposals, to propose projects to the GCF, and are prioritised for accreditation (GCF, 2020).



(decision B.18/06 in Margarita et al., 2020: xvii). However, an independent evaluation carried out by the GCF Independent Evaluation Unit found the scheme to have been unsuccessful in simplifying requirements and accelerating processes (Margarita et al., 2020). The evaluation identified problems of predictability, transparency and efficiency, as well as multiple layers and duplications, which has limited the interest of accredited entities (Margarita et al., 2020).

All this indicates that access challenges persist. Until government institutions or national institutions achieve accreditation, IAEs will retain responsibility for programme design and fiduciary control. This raises issues of concentration risks and country ownership of adaptation efforts.

#### The minimum data required for proposals is lacking in certain conflict-affected zones.

For example, socioeconomic data of the granularity and specificity required in the GEF or GCF proposals is not available for certain areas of Mali, notably those with historic and on-going conflict. Armed groups routinely prevent teams from accessing areas to conduct participatory or gender assessments. These assessments are a key component of funding applications to many of the climate finance mechanisms.

Data for climate projections (on rainfall or temperature measures), or on the amount of carbon a given project will sequester, are not available in many areas – especially those that have had high levels of insecurity, as there are no monitoring stations. This can be exacerbated by the lack of any historical weather data collection, such as in Somalia from the 1990s while the country was in conflict. Developing detailed spatial mapping to inform risk reduction planning is extremely challenging under such circumstances. Climate data limitations are compounded by a lack of national coordination and capacity to manage and distribute timely and appropriate information.

# 5. CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSIONS



Given the interrelationship between climate change and conflict in fragile and conflict-affected situations (FCSs), climate adaptation finance allocation to such countries needs to be conflict sensitive. Conversely, peacebuilding and conflict programmes should consider climate risks. This study's exploration of conflict sensitivity across climate adaptation investments in the Sahel and Horn of Africa, with country case studies of Mali, Somalia and Sudan, has sought to understand how the climate and conflict nexus is being addressed on the ground. The study has faced several limitations, including the low level of project information disclosure from donors, and the challenges of reaching key informants in fragile and conflict-affected countries during the Covid-19 pandemic. Government stakeholders especially, often hard to reach even in normal times, have been fully occupied with the Covid-19 response.

Building upon the key insights in the previous section, the report provides answers to the two overarching research questions in the form of high-level considerations for further discussion and research.

# 5.1. How can the design and delivery of climate adaptation programmes be improved so that they help reduce risk related to both climate and conflict?

Articulate the climate adaptation and conflict nexus across donor, government and implementing-agency strategies, action plans, policies and guidance materials for

**investments.** Many donors and country governments have not yet found, or expressed sufficient interest in, approaches to deal with the climate and conflict nexus, and are thus lacking such policies and guidelines. Some donors, the World Bank for instance, have created a comprehensive strategy to adapt all areas of operation to work more adaptively and longer-term in FCSs, even when the context deteriorates. Developing strategies that link climate change to conflict and fragility and mainstreaming them through all areas of work would contribute to breaking existing siloes between the different sources of international finance (e.g. climate, development, humanitarian, peacebuilding) and their associated actors.

Improve guidance and capacities for conflict sensitivity analysis and support project portfolio reviews with a conflict lens to generate learnings to improve practice. Donors, multilaterals and NGOs included in this report have conducted conflict analyses. Yet, often, these did not capture adequately the conflict dynamics because of lack of attention to power structures. Due to a lack of publicly available monitoring and evaluation documentation, it was also not possible to judge whether the conflict risk management measures put in place have been effective or adequate. In general, there is a consensus across actors that the quality of such analyses warrants improvement. Donors, especially bilateral and MDBs, should also increase their disclosure of project documentation and support project portfolio reviews with a conflict lens to understand how practice could be improved, while balancing the challenge that conflict analysis can be politically sensitive.

Ensure that local leaders and all key local stakeholders are actively participating in investment design and implementation via inclusive approaches that recognise the heterogeneity of communities. Across the case studies analysed, it has been the case that access to local leaders and key stakeholders during vulnerability or conflict assessment, as well as implementation, may not have been possible for security reasons (e.g. in the Rural Water for Sudan programme). Nevertheless, the BRACED programme in Mali demonstrated that, when project personnel are hired locally, and when these people are well integrated in

their community and are aware of the evolving context, the project is able to continue even when the security situation deteriorates (Malo, 2018). Similar approaches to that adopted in the BRACED programme in Mali may be possible in other contexts, which need more evidence and understanding.

#### Create more flexible operational protocols during implementation of adaptation

**investments.** Our findings suggested that the process of getting approval for changes in adaptation investment activities from unforeseen events (including conflicts) could take months and sometimes up to a year, adding further project costs, depending on the donor's flexibility. Lessons included in the World Bank (2020b) new strategy or from the humanitarian sector on improving flexibility, such as ALNAP's 'Shifting mindsets' (Obrecht, 2019), could be applied to adaptation investments. There is also evidence that 'crisis modifiers' work well to provide flexibility, bridging development and humanitarian financing, when accompanied by appropriate contingency planning, pace of action and clear guidelines (Peters and Pichon, 2017).

## 5.2. How can climate adaptation finance be increased to fragile and conflict-affected situations?

Improve coordination among donors, based on risk preferences. Duplication of efforts in FCSs poses greater risks and may exacerbate conflicts or neglect many of those who need support. Donors, multilaterals and NGOs working in FCSs are participating in established working groups and donor coordination initiatives with country governments; however, their effectiveness has been uncertain. This study has shown that different donors have different approaches for working in FCSs, based on their general risk perception, appetite and tolerance. Donors could better coordinate where they operate within a country based on a deeper understanding of each other's risk approach. A starting point could be a systematic mapping of adaptation programmes within a country, like the one GIZ conducted in Mali, identifying areas in which multiple actors are operating, and should be working synergistically, and areas in which there is limited investment and presence, needing greater attention. A promising donor coordination mechanism is the Sahel Alliance, which has adopted common objectives, a common integrated territorial approach, a unified results framework, and a commitment to pay attention to fragile and vulnerable areas across the work of all its donor members (Alliance Sahel, 2021). Similar approaches may be explored in other conflict-affected and fragile countries, which would contribute to learnings about good practice and what works.

#### Revise donor modalities to provide capacity-building support for climate change

**adaptation.** In particular, the readiness programme from the GCF still presents significant access challenges. The first readiness programme (UNDP) approved to Sudan in 2017 is said to have had administrative complications leading to unspent funding being returned to the funder. This warrants further exploration on how to best support such governments facing multiple economic threats with already low resources and capacity. Readiness support has traditionally been provided for 'soft' adaptation capacity-building – to improve climate policy and plans, knowledge and organisational processes connected to these activities. Perhaps an alternative form of support could be to concentrate more resources on developing public financial management capacities of governments.

**Support improved public financial management (PFM) systems.** Measuring a country's level of stabilisation as a means to effectively assess investment's operational risks is complex



and still poses uncertainty for the success of the investment itself. PFM systems are often not adequate, which affects mobilisation of resources and effective financial mechanisms. Supporting improvements in the PFM system (including transparency) may provide more certainty on the delivery of financial resources. In cases where delivery must happen through international institutions or other implementing partners, donor support should help strengthen the general social contract by crediting the government in the eyes of beneficiaries. Increasing trust in the government can, over time, create the conditions for mechanisms to manage conflict and climate risks to take root.

Actively explore how access requirements of multilateral climate funds, such as the GCF, could be adapted to FCSs. Dedicated funding windows with 'lower' or less burdensome requirements need to be created to channel more adaptation funding to FCSs. The GCF has piloted many schemes, such as those on enhancing direct access (DAE) and simplified approval (SAP), but these have had limited success. The World Bank Group has recognised that 'the traditional approach to aid effectiveness, in which countries with low institutional capacity received little finance, has at times limited the WBG's effectiveness in FCV [fragility, conflict and violence] settings' and that 'over the last decade this has changed, with a growing recognition that by allocating more resources through tailored mechanisms, impact in FCV settings is possible' (World Bank, 2020b: 9). In addition, further work is needed to assess where the opportunities are to ramp up capacity at national and subnational levels for national institutions to become accredited to access climate finance streams like GCF and LDCF.

# REFERENCES

ACLED – Armed Conflict Location and Event Data Project (2019) *ACLED Codebook*: 24 ACLED (n.d.) 'ACLED' (https://acleddata.com/#/dashboard)

Adger, W.N., Pulhin, J.M., Barnett, J., Dabelko, G.D., Hovelsrud, G.K., Levy, M., ... and Leichenko, R. (2014) 'Human security' in: *Climate change 2014: impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability. Part A: global and sectoral aspects'*: 755–791. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, UK and New York, USA: Cambridge University Press.

 APF – Africa Peace Forum, Center for Conflict Resolution, Consortium of Humanitarian Agencies, Forum on Early Warning and Early Response, International Alert and Saferworld, (2004) 'Conflict sensitive approaches to development, humanitarian assistance and peacebuilding: a resource pack'. Nairobi.

Alcayna, T. (2020) At what cost? How chronic gaps in adaptation finance expose the world's poorest people to climate chaos. Zurich Flood Resilience Alliance: 52.

Alliance Sahel (2021) FAQ on the Sahel Alliance (www.alliance-sahel.org/wp-content/ uploads/2021/03/EN-FAQ\_digital.pdf, accessed 19 April 2021)

Anderson, M.B. (1999) *Do no harm: how aid can support peace - or war - CDA*. Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner (www.cdacollaborative.org/publication/do-no-harm-how-aid-can-supportpeace-or-war/, accessed 25 May 2021)

BRACED (2021) *DCF*: decentralising climate funds in Mali and Senegal. BRACED. (http://www. braced.org, accessed 4 July 2021)

Bronkhorst, S. (2014) 'Adaptation must be conflict sensitive: conflict-sensitive adaptation: use human rights to build social and environmental resilience'. Indigenous Peoples of Africa Coordinating Committee and IUCN Commission on Environmental, Economic and Social Policy (www.iucn.org/downloads/tecs\_csa\_1\_conflict\_sensitive\_adapation\_bronkhorst.pdf)

CFU – Climate Funds Update (2021) *Data dashboard* (https://climatefundsupdate.org/datadashboard/, accessed 18 May 2021)

Christie, A. and Green, D. (2019) *The case for an adaptive approach to empowerment and accountability programming in fragile settings: synthesis report*. A4EA (www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A4EA\_Adaptive\_Management\_Synthesis\_Paper-1.pdf, accessed 23 April 2021)

Cordaid and IIRR (2011) Community managed disaster risk reduction: experiences from the Horn of Africa. Nairobi: English Press Limited (www.cordaid.org/en/wp-content/uploads/ sites/3/2013/01/CMDRR\_experience\_Horn\_of\_Africa\_1.pdf, accessed 15 July 2021)

Crawford, A., Dazé, A., Hammill, A., Parry, J.-E. and Zamudio, A.N. (2015) *Promoting climateresilient peacebuilding in fragile states*. Winnipeg: iisd: 29

CSC – Conflict Sensitivity Consortium (2012) *How to guide to conflict sensitivity.* CSC (www.icrc. org/en/download/file/118855/icrc\_yemen\_annual\_activity\_report\_2019\_-\_en\_-\_web.pdf)

DFID – Department for International Development (2016) Building Stability Framework. DFID (https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5968990ded915d0baf00019e/UK-Aid-Connect-Stability-Framework.pdf, accessed 22 April 2021)

FAO (2021) Somalia water and land information management (www.faoswalim.org/, accessed 3 May 2021)

FGS – Federal Government of Somalia (2015) *Somalia's Intended Nationally Determined Contributions (INDCs).* Federal Government of Somalia.

FRS – Federal Republic of Somalia (2013) National Adaptation Plan of Action on Climate Change (NAPA). Federal Government of Somalia.

Fund for Peace (2021) *Fragile States Index* (https://fragilestatesindex.org/, accessed 15 July 2021)

- GCF Green Climate Fund (2020) *Project preparation.* GCF (www.greenclimate.fund/projects/ process, accessed 18 June 2021)
- GCF (2021) Sudan. GCF (www.greenclimate.fund/countries/sudan, accessed 17 June 2021)
- GEA German Environment Agency (2018) Guidelines for conflict-sensitive adaptation to climate change. Umweltbundesamt (www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/ medien/1410/publikationen/guidelines\_for\_conflict-sensitive\_adaptation\_190917.pdf)
- GEF IEO Independent Evaluation Office of the Global Environment Forum (2020) *Evaluation* of *GEF* support in fragile and conflict-affected situations. GEF IEO (www.thegef.org/sites/ default/files/council-meeting-documents/EN\_GEF.E\_C59\_01\_Evaluation\_of\_GEF\_Support\_ in\_Fragile\_and\_Conflict-Affected\_Situations\_Nov\_2020\_0.pdf, accessed 19 Feb. 2021)

Goldwyn, R. (2016) Conflict sensitivity integration review. USAID: 24 Government of Sudan (2015) Sudan Intended National Determined Contributions (INDC).

- Halle, S. and Kellog, M. (eds.) (2020) Gender, climate & security sustaining inclusive peace on the frontlines of climate change. UNEP, UN Women, UNDP and UNDPPA/PBSO (https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/32638/GCS.pdf?sequence=1%26isAllowed=y, accessed 15 June 2021)
- Hardaway, A. (2021) 'The Green Climate Fund and adaptation finance: how to help climatevulnerable and fragile states adapt to climate change'. Flood Resilience Portal (https:// floodresilience.net/blogs/the-green-climate-fund-and-adaptation-finance-how-to-helpclimate-vulnerable-and-fragile-states-adapt-to-climate-change/, accessed 1 July 2021)
- Herbert, S. (2017) *Conflict analysis: topic guide*. Birmingham, UK: GSDRC, University of Birmingham: 34
- HM Government (2018) *National security capability review*. HM Government (https://assets. publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/ file/705347/6.4391\_CO\_National-Security-Review\_web.pdf, accessed 2 July 2021)
- ICG, (2016) *Central Mali: An Uprising in the Making*? [Africa Report] Brussels, Belgium: International Crisis Group. Available at: https://d2071andvip0wj.cloudfront.net/central-malian-uprising-in-the-making.pdf
- IFAD (2017) INCLUSIF Financement inclusif des filières agricoles 2018-2024. IFAD.
- IFAD, (2013) Republic of the Sudan: Country strategic opportunities programme. EB 2013/110/ R-14 https://webapps.ifad.org/members/eb/110/docs/EB-2013-110-R-14.pdf
- IIED International Institute for Environment and Development (2015) Decentralising Climate Funds in Mali and Senegal. IIED (www.iied.org/decentralising-climate-funds-mali-senegal, accessed 4 July 2021)
- Levine, S., Peters, K. and Fan, L., (2014) Conflict, climate change and politics: why a technocentric approach fails the resilience challenge. HPG Working Paper. London: ODI.
- Malo, S. (2018) 'Can you build resilience in Mali when the bullets are flying?' BRACED (www. braced.org/news/i/?id=64a9d44c-d40b-4ec9-b13c-744d4737a3d6, accessed 19 May 2021)
- Margarita, G., Horikoshi, D., Mokgano, E., Puri, J. and Volonte, C. (2020) *Independent* assessment of the GCF Simplified Approval Process (SAP) Pilot Scheme. Songdo, South Korea: Independent Evaluation Unit, Green Climate Fund (https://ieu.greenclimate.fund/ sites/default/files/evaluation/sap-final-report.pdf, accessed 17 June 2021)
- Met Office (2016) Food security and climate change assessment: Sudan.
- MFA Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2018) Working worldwide for the security of the Netherlands
   an integrated international security strategy 2018–2022. The Hague, the Netherlands: The Netherlands MFA

- MoPIED (2020) Somalia National Development Plan 2020 to 2024. Federal Government of Somalia
- Moran, A., Busby, J.W., Raleigh, C., Smith, T.G., Kishi, R., Krishnan, N., Wight, C. and Management Systems International (2018) *The intersection of global fragility and climate risks*. USAID (https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/PA00TBFH.pdf, accessed 27 May 2021)

Nagarajan, C. (2020) *Climate Fragility Risk Brief: Mali.* Berlin, Germany: Climate Diplomacy

Nagarajan, C., Pohl, B., Rüttinger, L., Sylvestre, F., Vivekananda, J., Wall, M. and Wolfmaier, S. (2018) *Climate-fragility profile: Lake Chad Basin*. Berlin: adelphi: 32

- NEF Near East Foundation, (2019) *BRACED: Learnings from Decentralising Climate Funds in Mali.* Near East Foundation.
- ND-GAIN Notre Dame Global Adaptation Initiative (2021) *ND-GAIN*. ND-GAIN (https://gain. nd.edu/, accessed 15 July 2021)

Nordqvist, P. and Krampe, F. (2018) *Climate change and violent conflict: sparse evidence from South Asia and South East Asia.* SIPRI Insights on Peace and Security. Solna, Sweden: SIPRI: 12

NRC (2021) *BRCiS Consortium – Building Resilient Communities in Somalia*. NRC (www.nrc. no/what-we-do/brcis-consortium---building-resilient-communities-in-somalia/, accessed 3 May 2021)

- Obrecht, A. (2019) *Shifting mindsets: creating a more flexible humanitarian response.* London: ODI/ALNAP (www.alnap.org/help-library/shifting-mindsets-creating-a-more-flexible-humanitarian-response, accessed 4 July 2021)
- OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2020a) Official development assistance (ODA) – net ODA. OECD Data (http://data.oecd.org/oda/net-oda. htm, accessed 27 September 2020)
- OECD (2020b) *States of fragility* (www3.compareyourcountry.org/states-of-fragility/ overview/0/, accessed 14 May 2021)
- OECD (2021) Climate Change: OECD DAC external development finance statistics. OECD (www. oecd.org/dac/financing-sustainable-development/development-finance-topics/climate-change.htm, accessed 20 June 2021)
- OECD (n.d.) OECD DAC Rio markers for climate: handbook. OECD (www.oecd.org/dac/ environment-development/Revised%20climate%20marker%20handbook\_FINAL.pdf, accessed 2 July 2021)
- Peters, K., Dupar, M., Opitz-Stapleton, S., Lovell, E., Budimir, M., Brown, S. and Cao, Y. (2020) *Climate change, conflict and fragility: information and analysis to support programme design scoping for the Climate and Resilience Framework Programme (CLARE).* London: Overseas Development Institute
- Peters, K. and Pichon, F. (2017) Crisis modifiers a solution for a more flexible development– humanitarian system? BRACED Knowledge Manager (https://cdn.odi.org/media/ documents/11861.pdf, accessed 12 April 2021)

Peters, K. and Vivekananda, J. (2014) *Topic guide: conflict, climate and environment*. Evidence on Demand (https://www.gov.uk/dfid-research-outputs/topic-guide-conflict-climate-and-environment, accessed 15 July 2021)

Republic of Mali (2007) National Adaptation Plan of Action to Climate Change. Republic of Mali (https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/napa/mli01f.pdf)

Republic of Mali (2016) First Nationally Determined Contribution – revised. Republic of Mali (https://www4.unfccc.int/sites/ndcstaging/PublishedDocuments/Mali%20First/Mali\_revised%20NDC.pdf)

Republic of Mali, (2018) *Plan D'investissement pour une Economie Verte et Resiliente aux Changements Climatiques pour le Mali.* [online] AEDD and Republic of Mali. Available at: https://www.greenclimate.fund/sites/default/files/document/mali-country-programme.pdf.

- Roberts, J.T., Weikmans, R., Robinson, S., Ciplet, D., Khan, M. and Falzon, D. (2021) 'Rebooting a failed promise of climate finance' *Nature Climate Change* 113: 180–182
- Rüttinger, L., Smith, D., Stang, G. et al. (2015) *A new climate for peace: taking action on climate and fragility risks*. Berlin: adelphi, International Alert, Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars, and European Union Institute for Security Studies
- Saferworld (2008) *Conflict-sensitive development* (www.saferworld.org.uk/downloads/ pubdocs/Conflict-sensitive%20dev%20May%2008.pdf)
- Schalatek, L. and Watson, C. (2020) *The Green Climate Fund*. Climate Finance Fundamentals. Climate Funds Update
- Shardesai, Shonali; Wam, Per. (2002). The Conflict Analysis Framework (CAF) : Identifying Conflict-Related Obstacles to Development. Social Development Notes; No. 5. World Bank, Washington, DC. © World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/ handle/10986/11335 License: CC BY 3.0 IGO. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/ handle/10986/11335
- Sherbinin, Alex de, Tricia Chai-Onn, Alessandra Giannini, Malanding Jaiteh, Marc Levy, Valentina Mara, Linda Pistolesi, and Sylwia Trzaska. (2014). *Mali Climate Vulnerability Mapping*. Burlington, Vermont: USAID. https://www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1860/ MALI%20CLIMATE%20VULNERABILITY%20MAPPING.pdf.
- Sieghart, L.C., Betre, M.M. and Mizener, J.A., (2018) *Strengthening conflict sensitive approaches to climate change in MENA*. MENA Knowledge and Learning Quick Notes. [Quick Note Series] Washington DC: World Bank. Available at: https://documents.worldbank.org/en/ publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/340661524037738947/Strengtheningconflict-sensitive-approaches-to-climate-change-in-MENA [Accessed 25 May 2021].
- Smith, D. and Vivekananda, J. (2009) Climate change, conflict and fragility understanding the linkages, shaping effective responses. London: International Alert
- Wiggins, S., Levine, S., Mary Allen, Vaidehi Krishnan, Irina Mosel, Neema Patel and Elsamahi, M., (2021) Livelihoods and Markets in Protracted Conflict: A Review of Evidence and Practice -Annex A Compendium of country studies. [online] SPARC, p.230. Available at: https://www. sparc-knowledge.org/sites/default/files/documents/resources/rer-annex-a-b-03-june-21.pdf.
- START Network (2018) Integrated conflict prevention and resilience handbook. START Network (www.christianaid.org.uk/sites/default/files/2018-06/Conflict-Prevention-Handbook-June-2018.pdf)
- Statista, (2021). Statista open data for Sudan inflation. https://www.statista.com/
- Strachan, A.L. and Haider, H. (2015) *Gender and conflict: topic guide*. Birmingham, UK: GSDRC, University of Birmingham (https://gsdrc.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/gender\_conflict. pdf, accessed 16 June 2021)
- Tänzler, D., Rüttinger, L. and Scherer, N. (2018) *Building resilience by linking climate change adaptation, peacebuilding and conflict prevention.* Adelphi and Planetary Security Initiative: 7
- Twining-Ward, T., Khoday, K., Tobin, C., Baccar, F., Mills, J.T., Ali, W. and Murshed, Z. (2018) *Climate change adaptation in the Arab states: best practices and lessons learned*. United Nations Development Programme (www.undp.org/publications/climate-changeadaptation-arab-states, accessed 15 July 2021)
- UN DPPA UN Department of Political and Peacebuilding Affairs (2021) Addressing the impact of climate change on peace and security. United Nations DPPA (https://dppa.un.org/en/ addressing-impact-of-climate-change-peace-and-security, accessed 2 July 2021)

- UNSC UN Security Council (2020) 'Climate change exacerbates existing conflict risks, likely to create new ones, Assistant Secretary-General warns Security Council'. UNSC (www. un.org/press/en/2020/sc14260.doc.htm, accessed 11 June 2021)
- UNDESA UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2021) *World population prospects 2019*. UNDESA: Population Dynamics (https://population.un.org/wpp/, accessed 15 July 2021)
- UNDP UN Development Programme (2012) Strengthening capacity for conflict-sensitive natural resource management. Toolkit and guidance for preventing and managing land and natural resources conflict. UNDP (www.un.org/en/land-natural-resources-conflict/pdfs/ GN\_Capacity.pdf)
- UNDP (2014) Enhancing climate resilience of the vulnerable communities and ecosystems in Somalia.
- UNDP (2017) Conflict sensitivity: experiences from local and community development practice in Myanmar. New York: UNDP.
- UNEP UN Environment Programme (2020) UNEP GEF PIR fiscal year 2020. Enhancing the resilience of communities living in climate change vulnerable areas of Sudan using ecosystem based approaches to adaptation (EbA)
- UNESCAP, (2018) ESCAP Multi-Donor Trust Fund for tsunami, disaster and climate preparedness: strategic note 2017–2020. [online] Relief Web. Available at: https:// reliefweb.int/report/world/escap-multidonor- trust-fund-tsunami-disaster-and-climatepreparedness-strategic-note.
- UN and WB United Nations and World Bank (2018) *Pathways for peace: inclusive approaches* to preventing violent conflict. Washington, DC: World Bank: 337
- USAID US Agency for International Development (2015) *Climate change and conflict. An annex to the USAID Climate-Resilient Development Framework* (www.usaid.gov/sites/ default/files/documents/1866/ClimateChangeConflictAnnex\_2015%2002%2025%2C%20 Final%20with%20date%20for%20Web.pdf)
- USAID (2012) *Climate Change Adaptation in MALI*. Available at: https://www.climatelinks.org/ sites/default/files/asset/document/mali\_adaptation\_fact\_sheet\_jan2012.pdf [Accessed 23 Aug. 2021].
- USAID (2016) Climate Change Risk Profile Sudan
- Woods, K., (2015) Intersections of land grabs and climate change mitigation strategies in Myanmar as a (post) war state of conflict. The Hague: MOSAIC Research Project.

World Bank (2018a) *Livestock sector development support project*. Washington, DC: World Bank World Bank (2018b) *Mali drylands development project*. Washington, DC: World Bank

- World Bank (2020a) Somalia crisis recovery project. Washington, DC: World Bank
- World Bank (2020b) World Bank Group Strategy for Fragility, Conflict, and Violence 2020–2025. World Bank Group (http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/844591582815510521/ pdf/World-Bank-Group-Strategy-for-Fragility-Conflict-and-Violence-2020-2025.pdf, accessed 16 April 2021)
- World Bank (2021) World Bank Climate Change Knowledge Portal: Mali. World Bank (https:// climateknowledgeportal.worldbank.org/country/mali).
- World Bank (n.d.) Revised classification of fragility and conflict situations for World Bank Group engagement (https://thedocs.worldbank.org/en/doc/964161594254019510-0090022020/ original/RevisedClassificationofFragilityandConflictSituationswebFY21.pdf, accessed 13 June 2021)
- World Bank Open Data, (2021). Sudan GDP from 2015 to 2019 in constant value. https://data. worldbank.org/

- Yoshida, K., Bond, H. and Kezie-Nwoha, H. (2021) Defending the future gender, conflict and environmental peace. The LSE Centre for Women, Peace and Security, GAPS and WIPC (https://gaps-uk.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Defending-the-Future.pdf, accessed 14 June 2021)
- Zhang, T., (2015) A conflict-sensitive approach to climate change mitigation and adaptation in the urbanizing Asia–Pacific. The Hague: The Hague Institute for Global Justice.
- ZOA, (2018). Sustainable Integrated Development Approach, Sudan. Project Document 2018-2021. NSU1042

### List of Key Informant Interviews (KII)

KII1 Donor (2021) Donor key informant interview 1. 26 April 2021
KII1 Mali (2021) Mali key informant interview 1. 19 April 2021
KII1 Somalia (2021) Somalia key informant interview 1. 19 April 2021
KII2 Donor (2021) Donor key informant interview 2. 26 March 2021
KII2 Mali (2021) Mali key informant interview 2. 22 April 2021
KII4 Donor (2021) Donor key informant interview 4. 19 April
KII4 Somalia (2021) Somalia key informant interview 4. 16 April 2021
KII5 Mali (2021) Mali key informant interview 5. 29 April 2021
KII5 Somalia (2021) Somalia key informant interview 5. 26 March 2021
KII6 Somalia (2021) Somalia key informant interview 6. 6 May 2021
KII7 Somalia (2021) Somalia key informant interview 7. 7 April 2021
KII8 Somalia (2021) Somalia key informant interview 8. 30 March 2021
KII11 Somalia (2021) Somalia key informant interview 11. 31 March 2021



## sparc-knowledge.org

Cover: A woman trader brings shallots from a surrounding village to Bandiagara town, Mali, on market day. Photo: Irina Mosel/ODI

Funded by









Fund manager



This material has been funded by UK aid from the UK government; however the views expressed do not necessarily reflect the UK government's official policies.